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HILLIARD TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 

Hilliard Town Hall / Council Chambers 
15859 West County Road 108 

Post Office Box 249 
Hilliard, FL 32046 

TOWN COUNCIL MEMBERS ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF 
John P. Beasley, Mayor Lisa Purvis, Town Clerk 
Kenny Sims, Council President Cory Hobbs, Interim Public Works Director 
Lee Pickett, Council Pro Tem Gabe Whittenburg, Parks & Rec Director 
Joe Michaels, Councilman  
Jared Wollitz, Councilman TOWN ATTORNEY 
Dallis Hunter, Councilman Christian Waugh 

AGENDA 

THURSDAY, MAY 15, 2025, 7:00 PM 

NOTICE TO PUBLIC 
Anyone wishing to address the Town Council regarding any item on this agenda is requested to complete 
an agenda item sheet in advance and give it to the Town Clerk. The sheets are located next to the printed 
agendas in the back of the Council Chambers. Speakers are respectfully requested to limit their comments 
to three (3) minutes. A speaker’s time may not be allocated to others. 

 

PLEDGE OF CIVILITY 

WE WILL BE RESPECTFUL OF ONE ANOTHER 
EVEN WHEN WE DISAGREE. 

WE WILL DIRECT ALL COMMENTS TO THE ISSUES. 
WE WILL AVOID PERSONAL ATTACKS. 

“Politeness costs so little.” – ABRAHAM LINCOLN 

CALL TO ORDER 
PRAYER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
ROLL CALL 

PUBLIC HEARING 

ITEM-1 Ordinance No. 2025-06 – Approving Resolution No. 2024-21 concerning Project 
No. 45030, Loan Agreement, pledged revenues, and designation of an 
authorized representative. 
Mayor Beasley 
 
Open Public Hearing 
Call for Public Comments 
Close Public Hearing on Ordinance No. 2025-06 
 
TOWN COUNCIL ACTION 
Town Council adoption of Ordinance No. 2025-06, on Second & Final Reading. 

REGULAR MEETING 

ITEM-2 Additions/Deletions to Agenda 
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ITEM-3 Town Council approval of the Annual Financial Statements & Audit for the fiscal 
year ending September 30, 2024. 
Brad Hough, CPA  – Powell & Jones, CPA’s 

ITEM-4 Town Council to consider and provide feedback to the Nassau Planning 

Department as they share the most recent draft of Nassau County Vision 2050.   

Lee Anne Wollitz – Land Use Administrator 

ITEM-5 Town Council approval of the Capital Budget Expenditure for Electrical Upgrades 
to the Wetland Influent Control Panel Box, with PSI Technologies and Osprey I & 
E Inc., in the amount of $15,928.00. 
Cory Hobbs – Interim Public Works Director 

ITEM-6 Town Council to consider a request for donation from the Marine Corp League 
for the purchase of toys to be distributed at the Northeast Florida Fairgrounds 
Toys for Tots giveaway.   
Lisa Purvis, MMC – Town Clerk 

ITEM-7 Town Council to accept the resignation letter from Charles Reed, of the Planning 
& Zoning Board effective July 1, 2025, and to instruct the Town Clerk to initiate 
the process for a new appointment. 
Lee Anne Wollitz – Land Use Administrator 

ITEM-8 Town Council to discuss Mr. Timothy Fisk’s public records request. 
Lisa Purvis, MMC – Town Clerk 

ITEM-9 Town Council approval of the Minutes for the May 1, 2025, Regular Meeting, and 
the May 8, 2025, Workshop.  
Lisa Purvis, MMC – Town Clerk 

ITEM-10 Town Council approval of AECOM Technical Services, Inc., Payable through 
May 2, 2025, Project Name: Environmental Assessment for the North and South 
Property Acquisitions at the Hilliard Airpark in the amount of $8,250.00. 
FDOT PTGA 100% GRANT FUNDED PROJECT $55,000; AECOM S.A. NO. 21 
LUMP SUM CONTRACT $55,000 

ITEM-11 Town Council approval of PQH Group, Payable through May 5, 2025, Project 
Name: Hurricane Shelter / Community Center Project in the amount of 
$60,000.00. 
FDEM 100% GRANT FUNDED PROJECT LUMP SUM CONTRACT $572,000 

ADDED ITEMS 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS 

PUBLIC 

MAYOR & TOWN COUNCIL 

ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF 
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TOWN ATTORNEY 

ADJOURNMENT 

The Town may take action on any matter during this meeting, including items that are not set forth 
within this agenda. 

TOWN COUNCIL MEETINGS 
The Town Council meets the first and third Thursday of each month beginning at 7:00 p.m., 
unless otherwise scheduled. Meetings are held in the Town Hall Council Chambers located at 
15859  West County Road 108. Video and audio recordings of the meetings are available in the 
Town Clerk’s Office upon request. 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD MEETINGS 
The Planning & Zoning Board meets the first Tuesday of each month beginning at 7:00 p.m., 
unless otherwise scheduled. Meetings are held in the Town Hall Council Chambers located 
at  15859 West County Road 108. Video and audio recordings of the meetings are available in 
the Town Clerk’s Office upon request. 

MINUTES & TRANSCRIPTS 
Minutes of the Town Council meetings can be obtained from the Town Clerk’s Office. The 
Meetings are usually recorded but are not transcribed verbatim for the minutes. Persons 
requiring a verbatim transcript may make arrangements with the Town Clerk to duplicate the 
recordings, if available, or arrange to have a court reporter present at the meeting. The cost of 
duplication and/or court reporter will be at the expense of the requesting party. 

TOWN WEBSITE & YOUTUBE MEETING VIDEO 
The Town’s Website can be access at www.townofhilliard.com. 
Live & recorded videos can be accessed at www.youtube.com search - Town of Hilliard, FL. 

ADA NOTICE 
In accordance with Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities needing special 
accommodations to participate in this meeting should contact the Town Clerk’s Office at (904) 
845-3555 at least seventy-two hours in advance to request such accommodations. 

APPEALS 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 286.0105, Florida Statues, the following notification is 
given: If a person decides to appeal any decision made by the Council with respect to any 
matter considered at such meeting, he or she may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the 
proceeding is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal 
is to be based. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
Pursuant to Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, effective October 1, 2013, the public is invited 
to speak on any “proposition” before a board, commission, council, or appointed committee 
takes official action regardless of whether the issue is on the Agenda. Certain exemptions for 
emergencies, ministerial acts, etc. apply. This public participation does not affect the right of a 
person to be heard as otherwise provided by law. 

EXPARTE COMMUNICATIONS 
Oral or written exchanges (sometimes referred to as lobbying or information gathering) between 
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a Council Member and others, including staff, where there is a substantive discussion regarding 
a quasi-judicial decision by the Town Council. The exchanges must be disclosed by the Town 
Council so the public may respond to such exchanges before a vote is taken. 

2025 HOLIDAYS 

TOWN HALL OFFICES CLOSED 
 

1. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day                Monday, January 20, 2025 
2. Memorial Day                                    Monday, May 26, 2025 
3. Independence Day                            Friday, July 4, 2025 
4. Labor Day                                          Monday, September 1, 2025 
5. Veterans Day                                     Tuesday, November 11, 2025 
6. Thanksgiving Day                              Thursday, November 27, 2025 
7. Friday after Thanksgiving Day           Friday, November 28, 2025 
8. Christmas Eve                                  Wednesday, December 24, 2025 
9. Christmas Day                                  Thursday, December 25, 2025 
10. New Year’s Eve                              Wednesday, December 31, 2025 
11. New Year’s Day                              Thursday, January 1, 2026 
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AGENDA ITEM REPORT 

TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 

  

TO: Town Council Public Hearing & Regular 
Meeting                            

Meeting Date:  May 15, 2025 

FROM: Lisa Purvis, MMC – Town Clerk 

SUBJECT: Town Council adopting Ordinance No. 2025-06, an Ordinance approving 
Resolution No. 2024-21 concerning Project No. 45030, Loan Agreement, pledged 
revenues, and designation of an authorized representative. Adopting on Second & 
Final Reading 

  

BACKGROUND:     

See attached.  

 

 

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

TBD 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Town Council adopting Ordinance No. 2025-06, on Second & Final Reading.  

5

ITEM-1



Page 1 of 2 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-06 

TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING RESOLUTION 2024-21 CONCERNING 

PROJECT NO. 45030, LOAN AGREEMENT, PLEDGED REVENUES, AND 

DESIGNATION OF AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE. 

WHEREAS, the Town of Hilliard (the “Town”) desired to enter into a loan agreement 

with the Department of Environmental Protection under the State Revolving Fund (the “Loan”) 

providing Planning Phase Funding for Project No. 45030, for the planning, design, and 

rehabilitation/construction of wastewater treatment and collection facilities; 

WHEREAS, the Loan enabled the Town to provide for substantial and necessary planning, 

design, and rehabilitation/construction of wastewater treatment and collection facilities, which are 

dedicated to public use, enhance the Town’s infrastructure, and provide substantial long-term 

benefits to the Town;     

WHEREAS, the Town passed Resolution 2024-21, authorizing the Town to apply for the 

Loan to finance the Planning Phase of Project No. 45030; pledge net Water and Sewer Fund 

Revenues for repayment of the Loan; and designate the Mayor as the authorized representative to 

provide assurances and commitments required by the Loan application and represent the Town in 

association with the Loan agreement;  

 WHEREAS, the Town has a history of approving this type of financial planning by 

resolution and, in order to ensure thorough consideration, wishes to approve Resolution 2024-21 

by ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS:  

 SECTION 1. Recitals. The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are incorporated as 

if fully set forth herein. 

 SECTION 2. Resolution 2024-21 Approved. The Town of Hilliard hereby approves 

Resolution 2024-21, recognizing the value to the public of the wastewater facilities improvements, 

and finding that the funds made possible by the Loan serve the public interest by facilitating the 

construction of essential infrastructure. 

 SECTION 3. Codification. The provisions of this Ordinance approving Resolution 2024-

21 shall not be codified in the Town of Hilliard’s Code of Ordinances, as the Resolution pertains 

to a specific, temporary matter not required for the general laws of the Town. 

 SECTION 4. Effective Date. This ordinance shall take effect immediately upon its 

passage and adoption by the Town Council. 

ADOPTED this _____ day of ______, 2025 by the Town Council for the Town of Hilliard, 
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Florida. 

 

TOWN OF HILLIARD, FL 

 

By:  _______________________________________ 

 Kenny Sims 

 Council President 

 

 

Attest:  _______________________________________ 

 Lisa Purvis 

 Town Clerk 

 

 

Approved:  _______________________________________ 

 John P. Beasley 

 Mayor 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Town Council First Reading:  April 17, 2025 

Town Council Publication:  April 30, 2025 

Town Council Public Hearing: May 15, 2025 

Town Council Final Reading:  May 15, 2025 
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AGENDA ITEM REPORT 

TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 

  

TO: Town Council Regular Meeting                            Meeting Date: May 15, 2025 

FROM: Brad Hough, CPA  – Powell & Jones, CPA’s 

SUBJECT: Town Council approval of the Annual Financial Statements & Audit for the fiscal 
year ending September 30, 2024. 

  

BACKGROUND:     

The Annual Financial Statements & Audit are prepared by Powell & Jones, CPA’s. Mr. Brad 
Hough delivered in detail the Town’s Annual Financial Statements for the fiscal year ending 
September 30, 2024, at the Town’s Monthly Workshop held on May 8, 2025, at 6:00 p.m.  

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

2024 Annual Financial Statements & Audit - $38,000.00. 
Single Audit Federal or State Funds Expended over $750,000.00 - $3,000.00. 

Total - $41,000.00 (Federal & State Single Audit for FYE 2024). 

The Town expended over $15,000,000.00 in Federal & State Grant Funds within the 2023/2024 
fiscal year. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Town Council approval of the Town’s Annual Financial Statements & Audit for the fiscal year 
ending September 30, 2024. 
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

September 30, 2024 
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           Powell and Jones CPA     
    1359 S.W. Main Blvd. 

    Lake City, FL 32025 
    Phone 386.755.4200 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
April 2, 2025 
 
To the Town Council 
Town of Hilliard, Florida 
 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, and each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
Town of Hilliard, Florida (the Town) as of and for the year ended September 30, 2024, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town’s basic financial statements 
as listed in the table of contents.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major 
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information  of the Town, as of September 30, 2024, and 
the respective changes in financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Town, and to meet our 
other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our 
audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinions.  

Emphasis of Matter – Prior Period Adjustment 

As discussed in Note 15 to the financial statements, it was determined that certain lease related 
balances during the year ended September 30, 2023 were not properly presented in the financial 
statements. This resulted in a prior period adjustment to the lease-related balances in the General 
Fund and Governmental Activities portion of the Government-wide financial statements. Our opinion 
is not modified with respect to this matter.  

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.  In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there 
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are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Town’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, 
including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards and government auditing standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. 
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion 
is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events considered in aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the Town’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information  

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, and other schedules 
related to the Town’s retirement benefits be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. 
Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during 
our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance 
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on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to 
express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Town’s basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards and state financial assistance is presented for the purposes of 
additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.  Such information is 
the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has 
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and 
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the 
basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the Schedule of 
Expenditures of Federal Awards and State Financial Assistance have been fairly stated, in all material 
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 2, 
2025, on our consideration of the Town’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of 
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and 
other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion 
on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  The report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Town’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance.   

 

 
POWELL AND JONES CPA 
Lake City, Florida 
April 2, 2025 
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
 
 
The Town of Hilliard, Florida (the Town) offers readers of the Town’s financial statements this 
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the Town for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2024. We hope this will assist readers in identifying any significant financial issues 
and changes in the Town’s financial position. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 The assets of the Town exceeded the liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year 
by $17,312,694 (net position).  

 The Town’s total net position increased by $1,631,262. An increase of $1,004,307 was 
attributable to governmental activities and an increase of $626,955 for business-type 
activities. 

 As of the close of the current fiscal year, the Town’s governmental funds reported a 
combined ending fund balances of $2,589,119, an increase of $144,753 in comparison 
with the prior year. Of this amount, $527,580 is available for spending at the 
government’s discretion (unassigned or assigned fund balance). 

 At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the general fund was 
$527,580, or more than 15.6% of the total general fund expenditures and transfers out. 

 The Town’s total debt decreased by $664,612 during the current fiscal year, due to the 
net of annual debt service payments, and the changes of actuarially determined balances 
for the Town’s net pension liabilities related to their participation in the Florida 
Retirement System and Other Post Retirement Benefits. 

 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the Town’s basic financial 
statements. The Town’s basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government-wide 
financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This 
report also contains required and other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial 
statements themselves. 
 
The funds used by the Town are as follows: 
 

Number Fund Type
Governmental Fund 001 General Fund
Governmental Fund 101 Special Revenue (Local Option Gas Tax)
Governmental Fund 120 Special Revenue (Discretionary Sales Tax)
Proprietary Fund 401 Water and Sewer  

 
Government-Wide Financial Statements – The government-wide financial statements are designed 
to provide readers with a broad overview of the Town’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-
sector business. 
  

18

ITEM-3



 

11 
 

The statement of net position presents information on all of the Town’s assets and liabilities, with 
the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net 
position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Town’s is improving 
or deteriorating. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the Town’s net position changed 
during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying 
event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues 
and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in 
future fiscal periods (e. g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation and sick leave). 
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the Town that are 
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other 
functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and 
charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the Town include general 
government, public safety, transportation, health services, and culture and recreation. The business-
type activities of the Town include water and sewer utilities. 
 
The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 25 - 27 of this report. 
 
Fund Financial Statements – A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control 
over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The Town, like other 
state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the Town can be divided into two categories: 
governmental funds and proprietary funds. 
 
Governmental Funds: Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements; However, unlike 
the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-
term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources 
available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a town’s near-
term financing requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By 
doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the Town’s near-term financing 
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of 
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this 
comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities. 
 
The Town maintains three individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the 
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the General, Local Option Gas Tax and Discretionary 
Sales Tax Funds, all of which are considered to be major funds. 
 
The Town adopts an annual budget for all its major funds. A budgetary comparison statement has 
been provided for general and special revenue funds to demonstrate compliance with this budget. 
 
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 28 - 30 of this report. 
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Proprietary Funds: The Town maintains only one type of proprietary fund. The enterprise fund is used 
to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial 
statements. The Town uses the enterprise fund to account for its Water and Sewer Utilities. 
 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial 
statements, only in more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide information for 
the Water and Sewer Utilities. 
 
The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 31 - 34 of this report. 
 
Fiduciary Funds: Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties 
outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not reported in the government-wide financial 
statements because the resources of those funds are not available to provide support to the Town’s 
own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. 
The Town maintains one fiduciary fund type: a custodial fund. The custodial fund reports resources, 
not in a trust, held by the Town for parties outside the Town’s reporting entity.  The fiduciary fund 
financial statements can be found on pages 35 - 36. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements – The notes provide additional information that is essential to a 
full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The 
notes to the financial statements can be found on pages 37 -   of this report. 
 
Government-Wide Financial Analysis  
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a Town’s financial position. 
In the case of the Town, assets exceeded liabilities by $17,312,694 at the close of the most recent 
fiscal year. 
 
By far, the largest portion of the Town’s net position (79.36%) reflects its investment in capital assets 
(e.g., land, buildings, machinery and equipment); less any related debt used to acquire those assets 
that is still outstanding. The Town uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; 
consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the Town’s investment in 
its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to 
repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be 
used to liquidate these liabilities. 
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Town of Hilliard, Florida 
Statement of Net Position 

September 30, 2024  
 

An additional portion of the Town’s net position represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net position was 
$1,635,767.   At times in the past, this balance has been reported as a deficit which had been due 
to the implementation of certain state standards requiring the Town to report its pro rata shares of 
the pension liabilities from the Florida Retirement System and Other Post-Employment Benefits.  Due 
to the fact that the Town’s management does not anticipate being required to directly fund related 
portions of this deficit, when this condition occurs, it is not considered to be detrimental.  The Town 
anticipates periodic adjustments to current contribution rates to fund the net pension liabilities.   
 

2023 2023
2024 (restated) 2024 2023 2024 (restated)

Current assets 3,174,102$     2,626,792$   2,529,771$   3,063,705$   5,703,873$       5,690,497$          
Capital assets, net 7,840,026       6,935,579     9,715,010     9,214,544     17,555,036       16,150,123          
Lease receivable 209,294          208,692        -                48,679          209,294            257,371               
Interfund balances (499,457)         -                499,457        -                -                    -                       
Total assets 10,723,965     9,771,063     12,744,238   12,326,928   23,468,203       22,097,991          

Deferred outflows 384,797          457,771        174,482        229,392        559,279            687,163               

Current liabilities 232,693          320,615        591,903        650,123        824,596            970,738               
Long-term liabilities 1,043,719       1,390,128     4,185,929     4,516,897     5,229,648         5,907,025            
Total liabilities 1,276,412       1,710,743     4,777,832     5,167,020     6,054,244         6,877,763            

Deferred inflows 481,978          172,026        178,566        53,933          660,544            225,959               

Invested in capital
assets, net of related
debt 7,840,026       6,935,579     5,899,010     5,258,026     13,739,036       12,193,605          
Restricted 2,017,445       1,886,833     599,429        532,363        2,616,874         2,419,196            
Unrestricted (507,099)         (476,347)       1,463,883     1,544,978     956,784            1,068,631            
Total net position 9,350,372$     8,346,065$   7,962,322$   7,335,367$   17,312,694$     15,681,432$        

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total

 
 

  

21

ITEM-3



 

14 
 

Town of Hilliard, Florida 
Changes in Net Position 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

Governmental Activities – Governmental activities increased the Town’s net position by $1,004,307. 

Business-Type Activities – Business-type activities increased the Town’s net position by $626,955.  
This increase was primarily attributable to the receipt of a state grant in the amount of $597,000 
that offset the costs of the Town’s Oxford Street Force Main project.    

 

2023 2023
2024 (Restated) 2024 2023 2024 (Restated)

Revenues
Charges for service 374,213$       341,317$       1,380,566$    1,394,109$     1,754,779$       1,735,426$       
Grants and contributions 1,133,439      2,082,328      597,000         12,000            1,730,439         2,094,328         
General revenues 2,546,430      2,432,694      110,084         102,787          2,656,514         2,535,481         
Total revenues 4,054,082      4,856,339      2,087,650      1,508,896       6,141,732         6,365,235         

Expenses
General government 886,801         1,112,267      -                 -                  886,801            1,112,267         
Public safety 148,299         131,992         -                 -                  148,299            131,992            
Transportation 673,990         807,299         -                 -                  673,990            807,299            
Health services 42,282           46,915           -                 -                  42,282              46,915              
Parks and Recreation 775,204         668,802         -                 -                  775,204            668,802            
Interest on long-term debt -                 -                 118,540         121,643          118,540            121,643            
Water and sewer -                 -                 1,833,491      2,015,199       1,833,491         2,015,199         
Total expenses 2,526,576      2,767,275      1,952,031      2,136,842       4,478,607         4,904,117         

Increase (decrease) in
  net position before transfers 1,527,506      2,089,064      135,619         (627,946)         1,663,125         1,461,118         
Transfers (523,199)        (1,909,439)     523,199         1,909,439       -                    -                    
Loss on cancellation of 
  lease agreeement -                 -                 (31,863)          -                  (31,863)             -                    
Change in net position 1,004,307      179,625         626,955         1,281,493       1,631,262         1,461,118         

Net position, beginning of year 8,346,065      8,166,440      7,335,367      6,053,874       15,681,432       14,220,314       
Net position, end of year 9,350,372$    8,346,065$    7,962,322$    7,335,367$     17,312,694$     15,681,432$     

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total

 
 
Financial Analysis of the Town’s Funds  
 
As noted earlier, the Town uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements. 
 
Governmental funds - The focus of the Town’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-
term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing 
the Town’s financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful 
measure of the Town’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
As of the end of the fiscal year, the Town’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund 
balances of $2,589,119, an increase of $144,753 in comparison with the prior year. The unassigned 
fund balance is $527,580, which is available for spending at the Town’s discretion. The remainder 
of the fund balance is restricted to indicate that it is not available for new spending because it has 
already been committed 1) to pay debt service, 2) to cover annual contracts, or 3) for a variety of 
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other restricted purposes. The non-spendable part of fund balance is $44,094 represents prepaid 
items at year end. 
 
The general fund is the chief operating fund of the Town, with the streets, recreation, fire and airpark 
departments all reporting within the general fund. The Public Service Tax revenue along with the 
Communications Service Tax is also reported within this fund and can be spent at the Town’s 
discretion. 
 
The Local Option Gas Tax Fund reflects the balance of the local option gas tax revenues that have 
been transferred from the General Fund and are yet to be used to cover qualifying transportation-
related expenses. 
 
The Discretionary Sales Surtax Fund reflects the balance of the discretionary sales surtax revenues 
from the General fund that have not been used to cover qualifying capital purchases as budgeted for 
within the various departments of the Town. 
 
Proprietary Fund - The Town’s proprietary fund provides the same type of information found in the 
government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. 
 
Unrestricted net position of the Water and Sewer Fund at the end of the year amounted to 
$1,463,883. Other factors concerning the finances of this fund have already been addressed in the 
discussion of the Town’s business-type activities. 
 
2024 Budgetary Highlights 
 
The following is a summary of the differences between the original and the final amended budget: 
 

 General Fund Surplus: At the end of the fiscal year, the General Fund’s budged was amended 
to show a surplus of $51,864 due to reduced inter-fund transfers. 
 

 Water & Sewer Fund Deficit: The fund’s amended budget showed an excess of expenditures, 
requiring a budgeted Cash Carry Forward of $98,576 to cover fiscal year expenses. 

 
 State Shared Revenues: Actual revenues surpassed initial estimates by $46,481, increasing 

General Fund revenue at year-end. 
 

 Local Option Gas Tax Revenue: Revenue came in $39,103 lower than expected, decreasing 
the Special Revenue Fund’s income. 
 

 Discretionary Sales Tax Fund: A total of $396,312 in budgeted expenditures for the General 
& Proprietary Funds was not spent during the fiscal year.  Discretionary Sales Tax Fund 
transfers to other funds was adjusted to reflect actual expenditures. 

 
 Recreation Department Revenue Growth: 

 Youth sports, kids’ programs, memberships, and rentals generated $145,256 more 
than budgeted, prompting an amendment to reflect actual revenue. 

 Town events revenue exceeded projections by $26,340, reducing the original amount 
budgeted for transfer to culture by $18,935. 
 

 Grant Fund Adjustments: 
 The General Fund Recreation Department budget was amended to reflect actual 

expenditures of FDEP FRDAP grant funds, which were uncertain at the time of 
budgeting. 
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 Similarly, the General Fund Airpark Department adjusted its budget for FAA and FDOT 
grant expenditures based on actual year-end figures. 

 The Proprietary Fund was amended to align with actual CDBG grant expenditures. 
 

 Inter-Fund Transfers: Adjustments based on fiscal year needs resulted in an overall decrease 
in budgeted amounts of $72,434 for transferred funds. 
 

 Salary Adjustments: 
 General Fund General Government salaries increased by $42,709 due to a long-term 

employee’s retirement. 
 Recreation Department salaries rose by $44,839 due to an additional full-time 

position. 
 Proprietary Fund salaries decreased by $31,229 due to a full-time vacancy that 

remained unfilled. 
 

 Proprietary Fund Expenses: Certain operational expenses, such as Repairs & Maintenance 
and Operating Supplies, were underestimated at budget time, requiring year-end 
adjustments. 

 
 
Schedules of budget and actual comparisons for the general and special revenue major funds appear 
on pages 71 - 73 of this report. 
 
Capital Asset and Debt Administration 
 
Capital Assets – The Town’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business type 
activities as of September 30, 2024, amounts to $17,555,036 (net of accumulated depreciation). 
This investment in capital assets includes land, buildings, system, improvements, machinery and 
equipment and park facilities. The total increase in the Town’s net investment in capital assets for 
the current fiscal year was 8.7% (a 13.0% increase for governmental activities and a 5.4% increase 
for business-type activities). 
 
2024 major capital asset events during the fiscal year include the following: 
 
General Government Fund  
 
General Government 
 
Machinery and Equipment 
IT Refresh Project 
 
The Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds in fiscal year 2024 for the IT Refresh Project which 
included: purchase of a new copier with attachments, a document scanner with electrical setup, 
monitors and accessories, monitor arms for ergonomic workspaces, a router for enhanced network 
performance, and HDMI adapters for connectivity. These upgrades support improved document 
management, workplace productivity, and overall IT infrastructure reliability. 
 
Capital funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $43,674 
Fiscal year project total     $43,674 
 

General Transportation – Street  
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Infrastructure 
Ingham Road Drainage Improvement 
 
The Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds in fiscal year 2024 for the Ingham Road Drainage 
Improvements project, which included the installation of dual walls and pipes, concrete work, and 
the finishing of culvert ends. These improvements enhance stormwater management, reduce 
flooding risks, and improve roadway durability. 
 
Capital funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $42,502 
Fiscal year project total     $42,502 
 
Infrastructure 
NW Quadrant Street Improvements 
 
The Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds in fiscal year 2024 for the NW Quadrant Street 
Improvements project, which included the rental of a towing road grader and purchase of asphalt 
millings. These upgrades improve road grading, enhance roadway surfaces, and support long-term 
infrastructure maintenance. 
 
Capital funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $31,323 
Fiscal year project total     $31,323 
 
Machinery and Equipment 
Franklin Equipment Sales – Maverick Kawasaki Mower 
 
The Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds in fiscal year 2024 for the purchase of a Maverick 
Kawasaki Mower from Franklin Equipment Sales. This mower enhances the town's landscaping 
capabilities, ensuring efficient and high-quality lawn maintenance. 
 
Capital funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $7,182 
Fiscal year project total     $7,182 
 
Machinery and Equipment 
ADAPCO, LLC – Mosquito Spayer 
 
The Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds in fiscal year 2024 for the purchase of a GUARDIAN Flow 
Sprayer from ADAPCO, LLC. This equipment will enhance the town's mosquito control efforts, 
ensuring more effective and efficient spraying for public health and safety. 
 
Capital funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $12,470 
Fiscal year project total     $12,470 
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Machinery and Equipment 
Battle Armor Designs, LLC – Culvert Cleaner 
 
The Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds in fiscal year 2024 for the purchase of a 3ft Culvert 
Cleaner Package from Battle Armor Designs, LLC. This equipment will improve the town's ability to 
maintain and clear culverts, ensuring proper water flow and reducing flooding risks. 
 
Capital funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $5,695 
Fiscal year project total     $5,695 
 
General Culture and Recreation 
 
Buildings 
FDEM – Hurricane Shelter (CIP)  
 
The Town of Hilliard received FDEM funding for the Hurricane Shelter project in fiscal year 2024, 
which included the procurement of architectural and engineering services, as well as administrative 
services. These services are essential for the planning, design, and management of the hurricane 
shelter to ensure safety and efficiency in the event of a disaster. 
 
Grant funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24   $2,607 
Fiscal year project total     $5,890,200 
 
Infrastructure 
NC BOCC – Town Hall Improvements (CIP) 
 
The Town of Hilliard received NC BOCC funding for the Town Hall Park Improvements project in fiscal 
year 2024, which included the removal and replacement of sidewalks, installation of surveillance 
equipment, computer cables, and power for cameras. Additional improvements included fencing 
around the retention pond, lighting and IT room buildout, as well as concrete for the sidewalk. The 
project also featured the purchase of a gigabit transceiver and temporary mounting for certain 
installations, enhancing both security and functionality at the park. 
 
Grant funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24   $29,573 
Fiscal year project total     $50,000 
 
Machinery and Equipment 
Franklin Equipment Sales – Rebel 72” Kawasaki Mower 
 
The Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds in fiscal year 2024 for the purchase of a Rebel 72" 
Kawasaki Mower from Franklin Equipment Sales. This mower will enhance the town's landscaping 
operations by providing efficient and reliable equipment for large-scale lawn maintenance. 
 
Capital funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $9,463 
Fiscal year project total     $9,463 
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Machinery and Equipment 
FDEP FRDAP Grant – North Oxford Street Park, Phase II (CIP) 
 
The Town of Hilliard was awarded FDEP FRDAP Grant Funding in the amount of $200,000 and the 
Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds in the amount of $22,347 to complete Phase I of the Town 
Hall Park. Phase I included the following new projects: playground equipment, picnic facility, 
exercise/bike/nature trails, nature overlook, historical marker, restrooms with water fountain, 
entrance sign, bike rack,  parking lot and security lighting. 
 
Grant funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24   $4,750 
Fiscal year project total     $200,000 
 
General Public Safety – Fire 
 
Machinery and Equipment 
Old Town Hall Generator Replacement Project (CIP) 
 
The Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds in fiscal year 2024 for the Old Town Hall Generator 
Replacement Project, which included the procurement of engineering services. These services are 
crucial for the planning and design of the new generator system, ensuring reliable power backup for 
the Town Hall during emergencies. 
 
Capital funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $4,810 
Fiscal year project total     $35,000 
 
General Transportation – Airpark  
 
Land 
FDOT and FAA Land Acquisition North 
 
The Town of Hilliard received FDOT & FAA funding for the Land Acquisition North project in fiscal year 
2024, which included various appraisals, review appraisals, legal work, and boundary surveys. The 
project also involved land purchases and deposits, ensuring the successful acquisition of land for 
future development and infrastructure improvements. These efforts support the town's long-term 
planning and growth initiatives. 
 
Grant funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24   $1,085,452 
Fiscal year project total     $1,613,129 
 
Land  
FDOT – Environmental Assessment (CIP) 
 
The Town of Hilliard received FDOT funding for the Environmental Assessment project in fiscal year 
2024, which included the procurement of cultural resources support services. These services are 
essential for ensuring compliance with environmental regulations and preserving cultural heritage 
during the planning and development phases of the project. 
 
Grant funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24   $13,750 
Fiscal year project total     $55,000 
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Buildings  
FDOT – New Hangar Box (CIP) 
 
The Town of Hilliard received FDOT funding for the New Box Hangar project in fiscal year 2024. This 
addition will enhance the town's aviation infrastructure, providing additional storage and operational 
space for aircraft. 
 
Grant funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24   $44,576 
Fiscal year project total     $391,000 
 
Infrastructure 
FDOT – Obstruction Removal 
 
The Town of Hilliard received FDOT funding for the Obstruction Removal project in fiscal year 2024, 
which included RPZ clearing. This work is vital for ensuring the safety and compliance of the airport's 
approach and departure zones by removing obstacles that could interfere with aircraft operations. 
 
Grant funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24   $9,391 
Fiscal year project total     $300,000 
 
Proprietary Fund 
 
Water and Sewer 
 
Infrastructure 
FDEP – Oxford St FM Reroute 
 
The Town of Hilliard received FDEP funding for the Oxford Street Force Main Reroute project in fiscal 
year 2024, which included engineering services and multiple pay requests for the ongoing work. 
These services are vital for the successful rerouting of the force main, improving the town's 
wastewater infrastructure and system reliability. 
 
Grant funds expended for fiscal year 2022-23   $12,000 
Grant funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24   $597,000 
Capital  funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $38,670 
Fiscal year project total     $647,670 
 
Infrastructure 
ER Manhole Sewer Rehabilitation 
 
The Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds in fiscal year 2024 for manhole repair work by Site Savvy 
Inc. and TB Landmark. These repairs are essential for maintaining the integrity and functionality of 
the town's wastewater system. 
 
Capital funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $264,635 
Fiscal year project total     $264,635 
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Infrastructure  
CDBG Match (CIP) 
 
The Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds in fiscal year 2024 for the CDBG Match project, which 
included the procurement of RFP administrative and engineering services. These services are crucial 
for the successful management and execution of the project, ensuring compliance and efficient use 
of funds. 
 
Capital funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $2,796 
Fiscal year project total     $750,000 
 
Infrastructure  
Well 5 ER Repair 
 
The Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds in fiscal year 2024 for manhole repair work by Complete 
Services Well Drilling, INC. These repairs are essential for maintaining the integrity and functionality 
of the town's wastewater system. 
 
Capital funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $46,540 
Fiscal year project total     $46,540 
 
Infrastructure 
WWTP Permit renewal – Engineering Costs 
 
The Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds for the purchase of the WWTP permit renewal. 
 
Capital funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $11,000 
Fiscal year project total     $11,000 
 
Infrastructure 
ER R and M WWTP S/B Generator 
 
The Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds in fiscal year 2024 for the ER R&M WWTP S/B Generator 
project, which included the rental of a diesel generator, generator maintenance, and the repair and 
replacement of light fixtures. These upgrades ensure reliable power for the wastewater treatment 
plant and maintain safety and efficiency at the facility. 
 
Capital funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $17,033 
Fiscal year project total     $17,033 
 
Infrastructure 
ER R and M WWTP Main LS S/B Generator Repair 
 
The Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds in fiscal year 2024 for the ER R&M WWTP Main LS S/B 
Generator Repair project, which included the replacement of the battery charger and control panel. 
These repairs ensure the continued operation and reliability of the generator at the wastewater 
treatment plant. 
 
Capital funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $7,713 
Fiscal year project total     $7,713 
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Machinery and Equipment 
UEMSI/HTV – Jet Rig Camera 
 
The Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds in fiscal year 2024 for the purchase of a Jet Rig Camera 
from UEMSI/HTV. This equipment will enhance the town's ability to inspect and maintain the sewer 
system, improving the efficiency and effectiveness of its wastewater management. 
 
Capital funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $9,780 
Fiscal year project total     $9,780 
 
Machinery and Equipment 
Teledyne Instruments, Inc. – GLS Sewer Sampler 
 
The Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds in fiscal year 2024 for the purchase of a GLS Sewer 
Sampler from Teledyne Instruments, Inc. This equipment will assist in monitoring and analyzing the 
town's wastewater system, ensuring compliance with environmental standards and improving 
overall water quality management. 
 
Capital funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $7,173 
Fiscal year project total     $7,173 
 
Machinery and Equipment 
WWTP Panel View SCADA 
 
The Town of Hilliard approved Capital Funds in fiscal year 2024 for the WWTP Panel View SCADA – 
LS project, which included the purchase and installation of panels. These upgrades improve the 
monitoring and control capabilities of the wastewater treatment plant's lift station, enhancing 
operational efficiency and system reliability. 
 
Capital funds expended for fiscal year 2023-24  $8,305 
Fiscal year project total     $8,305 
 
 

 
Town of Hilliard, Florida 

Capital Assets 
(Net of Depreciation)  

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Land 1,968,902$   883,450$             27,500$        27,500$          1,996,402$       910,950$          
Construction in
  progress 338,241        228,784               3,813            13,017            342,054            241,801            
Buildings 1,982,878     2,092,938            9,383,954     8,858,908       11,366,832       10,951,846       
Infrastructure 2,590,302     2,700,305            -                    -                      2,590,302         2,700,305         
Machinery and  
  equipment 893,342        939,359               299,743        315,117          1,193,085         1,254,476         
Other depreciable 66,361          90,743                 -                    -                      66,361              90,743              
  Capital assets, net 7,840,026$   6,935,579$          9,715,010$   9,214,542$     17,555,036$     16,150,121$     

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
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Long-Term Debt – At the end of the current fiscal year, the Town had total  outstanding bonds and 
compensated absences in the amount of $3,992,401 The bond balance is not pledged by any 
specific tax revenue and is only secured by revenues earned in the proprietary fund. 

At present the Town’s debt other than compensated absences is a 1996 Series Water and Sewer 
Revenue Bond that is financed through USDA Rural Development with a 38-year term at 4.5% 
interest rate and the 2010 Series Water and Sewer Revenue Bond that is also financed through USDA 
Rural Development with a 38-year term at 2.75% interest rate. 
 

Town of Hilliard, Florida 
Outstanding Debt 

General Obligation and Revenue Bonds 

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Bonds payable -$                      -$                      3,816,000$       3,916,000$       3,816,000$       3,916,000$       
Compensated  absences 121,676            105,796            54,725              51,543              176,401            157,339            
Net pension liability 816,735            1,190,482         370,341            596,964            1,187,076         1,787,446         
Other post-
   employment benefits 135,727            120,299            61,544              60,276              197,271            180,575            
Total 1,074,138$       1,416,577$       4,302,610$       4,624,783$       5,376,748$       6,041,360$       

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

  
 
The Town’s outstanding debt decreased by $664,612 during the current fiscal year due to scheduled 
payments and changes in the net pension liabilities related to post-employment benefits and the 
Town’s proportionate share of their participation in the Florida Retirement System. 
 
Additional information on the Town’s long-term debt can be found in the notes to the financial 
statements on pages 55 – 57 of this report. 
 
Requests for Information  
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Town’s finances and to 
demonstrate the Town’s accountability. If you have questions concerning any of the information 
provided in this report or requests for additional financial information, contact the Office of the Town 
Clerk at 15859 West CR 108, Hilliard, Florida 32046 or (904) 845-3555. 
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

September 30, 2024  
 

Governmental Business - type
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 1,920,688$       1,496,611$       3,417,299$           
Accounts receivable, net 54,549                145,973              200,522                 
Due from other governmental units 1,111,289          -                        1,111,289              
Internal balances (499,457)            499,457              -                            
Inventory -                        118,589              118,589                 
Prepaid items 44,094                10,044                54,138                    

Total current assets 2,631,163          2,270,674          4,901,837              

Restricted cash and cash equivalents:
Educational impact fees 43,482                -                        43,482                    
Bond interest and sinking -                        18,048                18,048                    
System development -                        327,325              327,325                 
Reserve fund -                        254,056              254,056                 
Customer deposits -                        159,125              159,125                 

Total restricted assets 43,482                758,554              802,036                 

Non-current assets:
Capital assets not being depreciated 2,307,143          31,313                2,338,456              
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 5,532,883          9,683,697          15,216,580           
Lease receivable 209,294              -                        209,294                 

Total non-current assets 8,049,320          9,715,010          17,764,330           
Total assets 10,723,965       12,744,238       23,468,203           

DEFERRED  OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Related to pensions and OPEB 384,797              174,482              559,279                 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities (payable from

current assets):
Accounts payable 73,890                293,244              367,134                 
Accrued liabilities 53,559                12,968                66,527                    
Unearned revenue 32,660                -                        32,660                    
Compensated absences, current 30,419                13,681                44,100                    

Total current liabilities (payable from
current assets) 190,528              319,893              510,421                 

Current liabilities (payable from 
restricted assets):
Accrued interest payable -                        9,885                   9,885                       
Customer deposits -                        159,125              159,125                 
Revenue bonds payable, current -                        103,000              103,000                 
Due to other governmental units 42,165                -                        42,165                    

Total current liabilities (payable from
restricted assets) 42,165                272,010              314,175                 

Total current liabilities 232,693              591,903              824,596                 
(continued)

See notes to the financial statements.  
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

September 30, 2024  (concluded) 
 

Governmental Business - type
Activities Activities Total

Long-term liabilities
Revenue bond payable, net of current -$                      3,713,000$         3,713,000$             
Accrued compensated absences, net of current 91,257                 41,044                 132,301                  
Other post-employment benefits 135,727               61,544                 197,271                  
Net pension liability 816,735               370,341               1,187,076               

Total long-term liabilities 1,043,719           4,185,929           5,229,648               
Total liabilities 1,276,412           4,777,832           6,054,244               

DEFERRED INFLOWS
Related to pensions and OPEB 389,432               178,566               567,998                  
Related to leases 92,546                 -                        92,546                     

481,978               178,566               660,544                  

NET POSITION
Invested in capital assets, net of

related debt 7,840,026           5,899,010           13,739,036             
Restricted for:

Debt service -                        272,104               272,104                  
System development -                        327,325               327,325                  
Transportation 1,215,708           -                        1,215,708               
Infrastructure and capital outlay 790,844               
Educational impact fee 1,317                   -                        1,317                       
Voluntary fire department 9,576                   -                        9,576                       

Unrestricted (507,099)              1,463,883           956,784                  
Total net position 9,350,372$         7,962,322$         17,312,694$          

See notes to the financial statements.  
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024  

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
Functions/Programs
Governmental activities

General government 886,801$     4,620$          -$                        -$                      (882,181)$     -$                      (882,181)$       
Public safety 148,299        -                        -                           -                         (148,299)        -                         (148,299)         
Transportation 673,990        -                        -                           1,068,169 394,179         -                         394,179           
Health services 42,282          -                        -                           -                         (42,282)          -                         (42,282)            
Culture and recreation 775,204        369,593 28,340 36,930 (340,341)        -                         (340,341)         

Total governmental activities 2,526,576    374,213        28,340              1,105,099     (1,018,924)    -                         (1,018,924)      

Business-type activities
Water and sewer services 1,833,491    1,380,566    -                           597,000         -                         144,075         144,075           
Interest on long-term debt 118,540        -                        -                           -                         -                         (118,540)        (118,540)         

Total business-type activities 1,952,031    1,380,566    -                           597,000         -                         25,535            25,535             
Total government 4,478,607$ 1,754,779$ 28,340$           1,702,099$  (1,018,924)    25,535            (993,389)         

General revenues
Taxes 592,906         -                         592,906           
Intergovernmental 1,391,880     -                         1,391,880       
Licenses and permits 126,213         -                         126,213           
Franchise fees 223,134         -                         223,134           
Fines and forfeitures 1,212              -                         1,212                
Rents and leases 4,408              3,148              7,556                
Interest 138,760 90,584            229,344           
Other fees and miscellaneous 67,917            16,352            84,269             
Loss on lease termination -                         (31,863)          (31,863)            
Interfund transfers (523,199)        523,199         -                           

Total general revenues 2,023,231     601,420         2,624,651       

Change in net position 1,004,307     626,955         1,631,262       
Net position - beginning (restated) 8,346,065     7,335,367     15,681,432    
Net position - ending 9,350,372$   7,962,322$   17,312,694$  

See notes to the financial statements.

Program Revenues Changes in Net Position
Net (Expense) Revenue and
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

BALANCE SHEET 
September 30, 2024  

Local Option Discretionary Total
Gas Tax Sales Tax Governmental

General Fund Fund Fund Funds
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents -$                1,195,880$  724,808$     1,920,688$  
Accounts receivable 54,549           -                   -                   54,549           
Due from other governmental units 1,025,425    19,828           66,036           1,111,289    
Lease receivable 209,294 -                   -                   209,294        
Prepaid items 44,094           -                   -                   44,094           

Total assets 1,333,362    1,215,708    790,844        3,339,914    
Restricted assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 43,482           -                   -                   43,482           
1,376,844    1,215,708    790,844        3,383,396    

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 73,890           -                   -                   73,890           
Accrued liabilities 53,559           -                   -                   53,559           
Unearned revenue 32,660           -                   -                   32,660           
Due to other governmental units 42,165           -                   -                   42,165           
Due to other funds 499,457        499,457        

Total liabilities 701,731        -                   -                   701,731        

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Related to leases 92,546 -                   -                   92,546           

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable - prepaid items 44,094           -                   -                   44,094           
Restricted 10,893           1,215,708    790,844        2,017,445    
Unassigned 527,580        -                   -                   527,580        

Total fund balances 582,567$     1,215,708$  790,844$     2,589,119    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
statement of net assets are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are
not financial resources and, therefore, are not
reported in the governmental funds. 7,840,026    

Deferred outflows of resources represent a  a consumption
of fund equity that will be reported as an outflow of
resources in a future period and therefore are not
reported in the governmental funds. 384,797        

Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of
fund equity that will be recognized as an inflow of
resources in a future period and therefore are not
reported in the governmental funds. (389,432)       

Long-term liabilities are not due in the current period
and, therefore, are not reported in governmental funds (1,074,138)   

Net assets of governmental activities 9,350,372$  

See notes to the financial statements.  
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA  
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024  

 

Local Option Discretionary Total
Gas Tax Sales Tax Governmental

General Fund Fund Fund Funds
REVENUES

Property taxes 457,925$           -$                      -$                   457,925$            
Other taxes 134,981             -                         -                     134,981              
Intergovernmental 585,932             209,283              596,665           1,391,880           
Licenses and permits 126,213             -                         -                     126,213              
Franchise fees 223,134             -                         -                     223,134              
Fines and forfeitures 1,212                   -                         -                     1,212                    
Charges for service 374,213             -                         -                     374,213              
Rents and leases 4,408                   -                         -                     4,408                    
Other fees and miscellaneous 96,257                -                         -                     96,257                 

Total revenues 2,004,275          209,283              596,665           2,810,223           

EXPENDITURES
General government 793,947             -                         -                     793,947              
Public safety 130,007             -                         -                     130,007              
Transportation 484,690             -                         -                     484,690              
Health services 19,071                -                         -                     19,071                 
Culture and recreation 611,197             -                         -                     611,197              

Capital outlay 1,347,218          -                         -                     1,347,218           
Total expenditures 3,386,130          -                         -                     3,386,130           

Excess (deficit) of revenues 
over expenditures (1,381,855)        209,283              596,665           (575,907)             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Interest income 106,778             -                         31,982             138,760              
Capital grants 1,105,099          1,105,099           
Interfund transfers in 184,119             -                         -                     184,119              
Interfund transfers out -                        -                         (707,318)         (707,318)             

Total other financing sources (uses) 1,395,996          -                         (675,336)         720,660              

Net change in fund balance 14,141                209,283              (78,671)            144,753              

Fund balance at beginning of year (restated) 568,426             1,006,425           869,515           2,444,366           
Fund balance at end of year 582,567$           1,215,708$        790,844$        2,589,119$        

See notes to the financial statements.
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND 

BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024  

 

Net change in fund balance - total governmental funds 144,753$      
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
statement of activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those
assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as
depreciation expense.

Expenditures for capital assets 1,347,218     
Less current year depreciation (442,771)        904,447         

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not 
require the use of current financial resources and, therefore,
are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.  Also
recognition of certain obligations related to prior and subsequent 
periods are not recognized in governmental funds but are 
recognized in the statement of activities.

Increase in compensated absences (15,880)          
Increase in other post-employment benefits (15,428)          
Decrease in net pension liability 373,747         
Net of changes in pension/OPEB deferred inflows and outflows (387,332)        (44,893)          

Change in net position of governmental activities 1,004,307$   

See notes to the financial statements.  
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA   
PROPRIETARY FUND 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
September 30, 2024 

 
Water and Sewer

Fund
ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,496,611$                     
Accounts receivable, net 145,973
Due from other funds 499,457                            
Inventory 118,589
Prepaid expenses 10,044

Total current assets 2,270,674                        

Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Bond interest and sinking 18,048
System development 327,325
Reserve fund 254,056
Customer deposits 159,125

Total restricted cash and cash equivalents 758,554                            

Noncurrent assets
Fixed assets

Land 27,500

Construction in progress 3,813
Property, plant and equipment 18,994,582
Allowance for depreciation (9,310,885)                       

Total noncurrent assets 9,715,010                        
Total assets 12,744,238                     

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Related to pensions and OPEB 174,482

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION
LIABILITIES  

Current liabilities
Accounts payable 293,244
Accrued liabilities 12,968
Accrued interest 9,885
Compensated absences 13,681
Customer deposits 159,125
Revenue bonds payable, current 103,000                            

Total current liabilities 591,903                            
(continued)
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
PROPRIETARY FUND 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
September 30, 2024 (concluded) 

 

Water and Sewer
Fund

Long-term liabilities
Revenue bonds payable, net of current 3,713,000$                     
Accrued compensated absences, net of current 41,044
Other post-employment benefits 61,544
Net pension liability 370,341

Total long-term liabilities 4,185,929                        
Total liabilities 4,777,832                        

D EFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Related to pensions and OPEB 178,566

NET POSITION
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 5,899,010                        
Restricted for:

Debt service 272,104                            
System development 327,325                            

Unrestricted 1,463,883                        
Total net position 7,962,322$                      
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
PROPRIETARY FUND 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024  

 
Water and Sewer

Fund
OPERATING REVENUES

Water sales 591,589$                         
Sewer sales 603,456
Fees and penalties 185,521

Total operating revenues 1,380,566                        

OPERATING EXPENSES
Water utility

Personnel services 386,192
General expenses 407,796

Sewer utility
Personnel services 257,462
General expenses 271,864

Depreciation expense 510,177
Total operating expenses 1,833,491                        

Total operating (loss) (452,925)                          

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Grant revenue 597,000
Rentals and leases 3,148
Interest earnings 90,584
Miscellaneous income 16,352
Interest expense (118,540)                          
Interfund transfers in 523,199
Loss on cancellation of lease agreeement (31,863)                             

Total nonoperating revenues 1,079,880                        

Change in net position 626,955                            

Net position at beginning of year 7,335,367
Net position at end of year 7,962,322$                     

See notes to the financial statements.  
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024 

Water and Sewer Fund
Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers 1,372,356$                   
Cash paid to suppliers (618,433)                        
Cash paid to employees (820,266)                        

Net cash used by operating activities (66,343)                          

Cash flows from non-capital related financing activities:
Miscellaneous revenues 16,352                            
Transfers from other funds 23,742                            

Net cash provided by non-capital related financing activities 40,094                            

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Grant receipts 597,000                         
Principal payments (100,000)                        
Interest payments (118,540)                        
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (1,010,643)                    

Net cash used for capital and related financing activities (632,183)                        

Cash flows from investing activities:
Investment income 90,584                            

Net cash provided by investing activities 90,584                            

Net change in cash (567,848)                        

Cash at beginning of year 2,823,013                     
Cash at end of year 2,255,165$                   

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used by
operating activities:

Operating loss (452,925)$                     

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to
net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 510,177                         
Changes in assets decrease (increase) and

liabilities (decrease) increase:
    Accounts receivable, net (16,785)                          
    Inventory (41,793)                          
    Prepaid items 24,664                            
    Deferred outflows 54,910                            
    Accounts payable (71,978)                          
    Accrued liabilities (464)                                 
    Compensated absences 3,182                              
    Customer deposits 8,575                              
    Other post-employment benefits 1,268                              
    Deferred inflows 141,449                         
Net pension liability (226,623)                        

Total adjustments 386,582                         

Net cash provided by operating activities (66,343)$                        
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
FUDICIARY FUND 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
September 30, 2024 

 
Custodial 

Fund
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 1,317$                     
Due from other governments 42,165

Total assets 43,482$                   

LIABILITIES  
Due to other governments 43,482$                   

Total liabilities 43,482                     

NET POSITION
Total net position -$                              

See notes to the financial statements  
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 

FIDUCIARY FUND 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 

Custodial
Fund

ADDITIONS: 
Fees collected on behalf of other governments 148,027$                

Total additions 148,027                   

DEDUCTIONS: 
Remittances of fees to other governments 148,027                   

Total deductions 148,027                   

Change in net position -                                

Net position at beginning of year -                                
Net position at end of year -$                              

See notes to the financial statements.  
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2024 
 
NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The financial statements of the Town of Hilliard, Florida (the Town) have been prepared in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units.  The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the standard-setting body for governmental 
accounting and financial reporting principles.  Pronouncements of the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (FASB) issued after November 30, 1989, are not applied in the preparation of the 
financial statements of the proprietary fund type in accordance with GASB Statement 20.  The GASB 
periodically updates its codification of the existing Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting 
Standards which, along with subsequent GASB pronouncements (Statements and Interpretations), 
constitutes GAAP for governmental units. 
 
In June, 1999, the GASB unanimously approved Statement 34-Basic Financial Statement and 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local Governments.  As provided by GASB 34, 
the Town did not elect to report retroactive infrastructure improvements in its financial statements 
due to the fact that its annual revenues are less than $10 million.  The Town has implemented all 
other applicable provisions of this Statement. 
 
A.  Reporting Entity – The Town is a political subdivision of the State of Florida.  The Town was 
established in Nassau County pursuant to Chapter 24561, Laws of Florida, Special Acts of 1947, as 
amended.  It is governed by elected Town Council Members (the Council) and an elected Mayor, who 
are governed by federal and state statutes, regulations, and Town ordinances.  The Town Clerk, who 
is an appointed official, is the Clerk and Chief Accountant of the Town. 
 
The Town maintains its accounts in accordance with the uniform classification of accounts as 
prescribed by the Florida Department of Financial Services, pursuant to Section 218.33, Florida 
Statutes. 
 
The basic financial statements of the Town for the year ended September 30, 2024, were prepared 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
There are no entities that are classified as component units who are financially accountable to the 
Town. 
 
B.  Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements – In June 2022, the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board issued Statement of Governmental Accounting Standards (SGAS) No. 101, 
Compensated Absences. Under SGAS No. 101, compensated absences must be recognized for leave 
that has not been used and leave that has been used but not yet paid in cash or settled through non-
cash means.  Unused leave includes leave for services already rendered, leave that accumulates, 
and leave that more likely than not will be used for time off or paid to the employee at some point 
in the future.  Additionally, governments are now able to report year-over-year increases and 
decreases in compensated absences net of each other and disclose them in one lump sum in the 
notes to the financial statements. The Town adopted the provisions of SGAS No. 101 as of October 
1, 2023.  Due to the immaterial impact on net positions from prior periods,  the Town has decided 
to implement this standard prospectively.    
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C.  Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting - The basic financial statements of the Town are 
comprised of the following: 

 Government-wide financial statements 
 Fund financial statements 
 Notes to the financial statements 

 
1. Government-wide Financial Statements 
 
Government-wide financial statements display information about the reporting government as a 
whole, except for its fiduciary activities.  These statements include separate columns for the 
governmental and business-type activities of the Town.  For the most part, the effect of interfund 
activity has been removed from these statements.  Governmental activities, which normally are 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type 
activities, which rely, to a significant extent, on fees and charges for support.   
 
Government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as is the proprietary fund.  Under the accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from exchange and 
exchange-like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place.  Revenues, expenses, 
gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from nonexchange transactions are recognized in 
accordance with the requirements of GASB Statement 33 - Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Nonexchange Transactions. 
 
Program revenues include charges for services, special assessments, and payments made by parties 
outside of the reporting government’s citizenry if that money is restricted to a particular program.  
Program revenues are netted with program expenses in the statement of activities to present the net 
cost of each program. 
 
Amounts paid to acquire capital assets are capitalized as assets in the government-wide financial 
statements, rather than reported as an expenditure.  Proceeds of long-term debt are recorded as 
liabilities in the government-wide financial statements, rather than as an other financing source.  
Amounts paid to reduce long-term indebtedness of the reporting government are reported as a 
reduction of the related liability, rather than as an expenditure. 
 
As a general rule the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide 
financial statements.  As applicable, the Town also chooses to eliminate the indirect costs between 
governmental activities to avoid the “doubling up” effect. 
 
2. Fund Financial Statements 
 
The underlying accounting system of the Town is organized and operated on the basis of separate 
funds, each of which is considered to be a separate accounting entity.  The operations of each fund 
are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, 
fund balance, revenues and expenditures or expenses, as appropriate.  Governmental resources are 
allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be 
spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled. 
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Governmental Funds - Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current 
financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are 
recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be 
available when they are collected within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities 
of the current period.  For this purpose, the Town considers revenues to be available if they are 
collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded 
when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  Franchise fees, licenses, sales taxes, gas 
taxes, operating and capital grants, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all 
considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal 
period.  All other revenue items are considered to be measurable only when cash is received by the 
Town. 
 
Under the current financial resources measurement focus, only current assets and current liabilities 
are generally included on the balance sheet.  The reported fund balance is considered to be the 
measure of “available spendable resources.”  Governmental funds operating statements present 
increases (revenue and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing 
uses) in net current assets.  Accordingly, they are said to present a summary of sources and uses of 
“available spendable resources” during a period. 
 
Any non-current portions of long-term receivables (special assessments) due to governmental funds 
are reported on their balance sheets in spite of their spending measurement focus. 
 
Non-current portions of other long-term receivables are offset by fund balance reserve accounts.  
Because of their spending measurement focus, expenditure recognition for governmental fund types 
exclude amounts represented by non-current liabilities.  Since they do not affect net current assets, 
such long-term amounts are not recognized as governmental fund type expenditures or fund 
liabilities. 
 
Amounts expended to acquire capital assets are recorded as expenditures in the year that resources 
were expended, rather than as fund assets.  The proceeds of long-term debt are recorded as an other 
financing source rather than as a fund liability.  However, debt service expenditures, as well as 
expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when 
payment is due. 
 
Proprietary Funds - The Town’s Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund is a proprietary fund.  In the fund 
financial statements, proprietary funds are presented using the accrual basis of accounting.  
Revenues are recognized when they are earned, and expenses are recognized when the related 
goods and services are delivered.  In the fund financial statements, proprietary funds are presented 
using the economic resources measurement focus.  This means that all assets and all liabilities 
(whether current or noncurrent) associated with their activity are included on their balance sheets.  
Proprietary fund type operating statements present increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) 
in total net position.  The Town applies all GASB pronouncements as well as all FASB Statements 
and Interpretations, APB Opinions and Accounting Research Bulletins, issued on or before November 
30, 1989, which do not conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements. 
 
Proprietary fund operation revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange transactions 
associated with the principal activity of the fund.  Exchange transactions are those in which each 
party receives and gives up essentially equal values.  Nonoperating revenues, such as subsidies, 
taxes, and investment earnings, result from nonexchange transactions or ancillary activities. 
  

47

ITEM-3



 

 40

Amounts paid to acquire capital assets are capitalized as assets in the fund financial statements, 
rather than reported as an expenditure.  Proceeds of long-term debt are recorded as a liability in the 
fund financial statements, rather than as an other financing source.  Amounts paid to reduce long-
term indebtedness are reported as a reduction of the related liabilities, rather than as an expense. 
 
Fiduciary Funds – The Town also reports one fiduciary fund; a custodial fund, which is used to account 
for impact fees collected on behalf of Nassau County School Board. These funds are collected on 
behalf of the School Board and remitted soon after being collected.  
 
D.  Basis of Accounting - GASB Statement 34 sets forth minimum criteria (percentage of the assets, 
liabilities, revenues or expenditures, expenses of either fund category and the governmental and 
enterprise combined) for the determination of major funds.  The Town has used GASB 34 minimum 
criteria for major fund determination.  The Town has four major funds and no nonmajor funds. 
 
1. Governmental Major Funds: 

 
The General Fund is the principal operating fund used to account for most of the Town’s 
general activities (Fire, Transportation, Health Services, Culture and Recreation, etc.) 
 

 The Discretionary Sales Tax Fund is used for recording the discretionary sales taxes received 
from the State of Florida.  In accordance with Nassau County ordinances, these funds are 
restricted for operational expenses of infrastructure projects or other purposes, excluding 
debt, as determined by the Town Council. 

 
The Local Option Gas Tax Fund is used to record local option fuel tax revenues distributed by 
the State of Florida.  In accordance with Chapter 336, Florida Statutes, these funds are 
restricted for transportation expenditures, including debt service and current expenditures for 
transportation capital projects, as determined by the Town Council. 

 
2. Proprietary Major Fund: 

 
The Water and Sewer Fund is used to account for operations either (1) that are financed, and 
operated in a manner similar to business enterprises – where the intent of the governing 
body is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods and services to 
the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user 
charges; or (2) where the governing body has decided that periodic determination of revenues 
earned, expenses incurred and/or net income is appropriate  for capital maintenance, public 
policy, management, control, accountability, or other purposes. 

 
E.  Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows and Net Position or Equity 
 
1. Cash and Investments - Cash includes amounts in demand deposits as well as short-term 

money market investment accounts.  Investments, when utilized, consist of certificates of 
deposit, and are stated at cost which approximates market value.  All such deposits and 
investments are insured and collateralized as required by state law. 

 
2. Cash Equivalents - For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Town considers all highly 

liquid debt instruments with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.  As of 
September 30, 2024, the Town’s cash consisted solely of checking accounts and money 
market accounts; it has no other cash equivalents. 
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3. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - The Town provides an allowance for Water and Sewer Fund 
accounts receivable that may become uncollectible.  At September 30, 2024, this allowance 
account totaled $30,923 based upon prior collection history.  No other allowances for 
doubtful accounts are maintained since other fund accounts receivable are considered to be 
fully collectible as reported at September 30, 2024. 

 
4. Receivables and Payables - Activity between funds that are representative of 

lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as 
“due to/from other funds.”  Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental 
activities and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial 
statements as “internal balances.” 

 
5. Inventories - The costs of governmental inventories are recorded as expenditures when 

purchased rather than when consumed.  The actual amounts of any such inventory type 
goods on hand at year end would not be material. 

 
6. Restricted Assets - As applicable, year to year, certain proceeds of enterprise fund debt, as 

well as certain resources set aside for their repayment, are classified as restricted assets on 
the balance sheet because their use is limited by applicable bond covenants.   

 
 The customer deposits account is used to accept and refund deposits paid by customers for 

utility services. 
 
 The system development account retains impact fees and is restricted for expansion of the 

town’s water and sewer plant. 
 
 The education impact fee account is used to accept money and is collected for the Nassau 

County School Board (the “Board”).  These funds are remitted quarterly to the Board and the 
Town retains a three percent administration fee.  The funds retained by the Town through the 
administration fee are not subject to any use restrictions. 

 
 The voluntary fire department account is used to accept donations on behalf of the Town’s 

voluntary fire department. These funds are used in accordance with the department’s 
direction based upon their operational needs. 

 
7. Encumbrances - Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other 

commitments for the expenditures of monies are recorded in order to reserve that portion of 
the applicable appropriation, is not utilized by the Town. 

 
8. Capital Assets - Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure 

assets (e.g., streets, bridges, rights-of-way, and similar items), are reported in the applicable 
governmental or business-type activities column in the government-wide financial 
statements.  Capital assets are defined by the Town as assets with an initial, individual cost 
of $5,000 or more and an estimated useful life in excess of one year.  Except for roads and 
bridges constructed prior to October 1, 1981, assets are recorded at historical cost.  Roads 
and bridges constructed prior to October 1, 1981 are generally not reported.  Donated capital 
assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of donations. 

 
 The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or 

materially extend its useful life are not capitalized. 
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 Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are 
constructed.  Interest incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of business-
type activities is included as part of the capitalized value of the assets constructed. 

 
 Property, plant, and equipment of the Town, as well as of component units, are depreciated 

using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 
 

 
Assets Years

Buildings 39 - 40
Infrastructure 10 - 30
Machinery and equipment 5 - 20
Plant 45
Improvements 15 - 25
Computer equipment 5  

 
9. Capitalization of Interest - Interest related to borrowings are capitalized during the 

construction period.  These costs are netted against applicable interest earnings on 
construction fund investments.  During the current period, the Town did not have any 
capitalized interest. 

 
10. Unearned Revenues – Unearned revenues reported in government-wide financial statements 

represent revenues received that have not been earned.  The deferred revenues will be 
recognized as revenue in the fiscal year they are earned in accordance with the accrual basis 
of accounting.  At September 30, 2024, the Town reported $32,660 in unearned revenues. 

 
11. Accrued Compensated Absences - The Town accrues accumulated unpaid vacation and sick 

leave when earned by the employee.  The current portion is the amount estimated to be used 
in the following year.  The non-current portion is the amount estimated to be used in 
subsequent fiscal years.  Both the current and non-current estimated accrued compensated 
absence amounts for governmental funds are maintained separately and represent a 
reconciling item between the fund and government-wide presentation. 

 
12. Capital Contributions - Contributed capital is recorded in proprietary funds that have received 

capital grants or contributions from developers, customers or other funds.  Reserves 
represent those portions of fund equity not appropriable for expenditure or legally segregated 
for a specific future use.  Designated fund balances represent tentative plans for future use 
of financial resources. 
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13.      Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources – In addition to assets, the statement of financial 
position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources.  This 
separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a 
consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized 
as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.  The government has two items 
that qualify for reporting in this category.  They are deferred charges on pensions and other 
post-employment benefits (OPEB) in the government-wide statement of net position.  
Deferred outflows on pensions are recorded when actual earnings on pension plan 
investments exceed projected earnings and are amortized to pension expense using a 
systematic and rational method over a closed five-year period.  Deferred outflows on 
pensions also include the difference between expected and actual experience with regard to 
economic or demographic factors; changes of assumptions about future economic, 
demographic, or other input factors; or changes in the Town’s proportionate share of net 
pension liability and are amortized over the average expected remaining service lives of all 
employees that are provided with pensions through each pension plan.  Contributions to 
pension plans made subsequent to the measurement date are also deferred and reduce net 
pension liability in the subsequent year.  Deferred outflows related to OPEB are recorded 
when changes of assumptions are made about future economic, demographic, or other input 
factors. These are amortized over the average expected life of OPEB plan participants.   

 
 In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate 

section for deferred inflows or resources.  This separate financial statement element, 
deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a 
future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that 
time.  The government has three items which qualify for reporting in this category.  These are 
deferred charges on pensions, OPEB, and leases receivable under the SGAS 87, Leases, 
accounting standard.  Deferred inflows on pension plan investments exceed actual earnings 
and are amortized to pension expense using a systematic and rational method over a closed 
five-year period.  Deferred inflows on pensions also include the difference between expected 
and actual experience with regard to economic or demographic factors; changes of 
assumptions about future economic, demographic, or other input factors; or changes in the 
Town’s proportionate share of net pension liability.  These are amortized over the average 
expected remaining service lives of all employees that are provided with pensions through 
each pension plan.  Deferred inflows on OPEB are recorded when changes of assumptions 
about future economic, demographic, or other factors are made.  Thes outflows are 
amortized over the average expected life of the OPEB participants.  Deferred inflows on the 
lease receivable are recorded at the net present value of the future lease receipts for leases 
on which the Town is the lessor.  The deferred amount is amortized to lease income on a 
straight-line basis over the life of the lease.   

 
14. Fund Balances - 
 
 A. Governmental Funds 
 As of September 30, 2024, fund balances of the governmental funds are classified as 

follows: 
 
 Nonspendable – amounts that cannot be spent either because they are in non-spendable 

form or because they are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 
 

 Restricted – amounts that can be spent only for specific purposes because of constitutional 
provisions, charter requirements or enabling legislation or because of constraints that are 
externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or the laws or regulations of other 
governments.  
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Committed – amounts that can be used only for specific purposes determined by a formal 
action of the Town Council.  The Town Council is the highest level of decision-making authority 
for the Town.  Commitments may be established, modified, or rescinded only through 
ordinances or resolutions approved by the Town Council.  
 
Assigned – amounts that do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed 
but that are intended to be used for specific purposes.  Under the Town’s adopted policy, only 
the Town Council may assign amounts for specific purposes. 
 
Unassigned – all other spendable amounts. 
 

As of September 30, 2024, fund balances are composed of the following: 
 

Local Option

General Fund Gas Tax Fund Sales Tax Fund Total
Nonspendable 44,094$          -$                     -$                     44,094$          
Restricted 10,893            1,215,708      790,844          2,017,445      
Unassigned 527,580          -                       -                       527,580          

582,567$       1,215,708$    790,844$       2,589,119$    

 
 
When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance 
is available, the Town considers restricted funds to have been spent first.  When an expenditure is 
incurred for which committed, assigned, or unassigned fund balances are available, the Town 
considers amounts to have been spend first out of committed funds, then assigned funds, and finally 
unassigned funds, as needed, unless the Town Council has provided otherwise in its commitment or 
assignment actions. 
 
B. Proprietary Funds 
 
Restrictions of net position are amounts that are not appropriated for expenditure or are legally 
restricted for specific uses.   
 
As of September 30, 2024, net position balances are composed of the following: 
 

 

Water and Sewer Fund
Invested in capital assets 5,899,010$                 
Restricted 599,429                       
Unrestricted 1,463,883                    

7,962,322$                 
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NOTE 2. RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
A. Explanation of Differences Between the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet and the 

Government-wide Statement of Net Position. 
 
“Total fund balances” of the Town’s governmental funds $2,589,119 differs from “net position” of 
governmental activities $9,350,372 reported in the statement of net position.  This difference 
primarily results from the long-term economic focus of the statement of net position versus the 
current financial resources focus of the governmental funds balance sheet. 
 
Capital related items 
 
When capital assets (property, plant, equipment) that are to be used in governmental activities are 
purchased or constructed, the cost of these assets are reported as expenditures in governmental 
funds.  However, the statement of net position included those capital assets among the assets of the 
Town as a whole. 
 

 

Cost of capital assets 13,993,373$      
Accumulated depreciation (6,153,347)          
     Total 7,840,026$        
   

Long-term debt transactions 
 
Long-term liabilities applicable to the Town’s governmental activities are not due and payable in the 
current period and accordingly are not reported as fund liabilities.  All liabilities (both current and 
long-term) are reported in the statement of net position.  Balances at September 30, 2024, were: 
 

 

Compensated absences (121,676)$       
Other post-employment benefits (135,727)         
Net pension liability (816,735)         

(1,074,138)$   

 
Deferred outflows/inflows of resources 
 
Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net position in a future period while 
deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position in a future period and 
accordingly, are not reported in the governmental fund statements.   However, the statement of net 
position included those deferred outflows/inflows of resources. 
 

Deferred outflows 384,797$        
Deferred inflows (389,432)         

(4,635)$           
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
NOTE 2.  RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
A. Explanation of Differences Between the Governmental Fund Balance and the Government-wide Statement of Net Position 

Total Capital Long - Term Statement
Governmental Related Deferred Debt of 

Funds Items Inflows/Outflows Transactions Eliminations Net Position
ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,920,688$     -$                   -$                   -$                   -$            1,920,688$     
Accounts receivable 54,549              -                      -                      -                      -               54,549              
Due from other governmental units 1,111,289        -                      -                      -                      -               1,111,289        
Prepaid items 44,094              44,094              
Lease receivable 209,294           -                      -                      -                      209,294           

3,339,914        -                      -                      -                      -               3,339,914        
Restricted assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 43,482              -                      -                      -                      -               43,482              
Capital assets, net -                      7,840,026        -                      -                      -               7,840,026        

Total assets 3,383,396        7,840,026        -                      -                      -               11,223,422     

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS -                      -                      384,797           -                      -               384,797           

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 73,890              -                      -                      -                      -               73,890              
Accrued liabilities 53,559              -                      -                      -                      -               53,559              
Unearned revenue 32,660              -                      -                      -                      -               32,660              
Due to other governmental units 42,165              -                      -                      -                      -               42,165              
Due to other funds 499,457           -                      -                      -                      -               499,457           
Compensated absences -                      -                      -                      121,676           -               121,676           
Other post-employment benefits -                      -                      -                      135,727           -               135,727           
Net pension liability -                      -                      -                      816,735           -               816,735           

Total liabilities 701,731           -                      -                      1,074,138        -               1,775,869        

DEFERRED INFLOWS 92,546              -                      389,432           -                      -               481,978           

FUND BALANCES/NET POSITION
Invested in capital assets -                      7,840,026        -                      -                      -               7,840,026        
Nonspendable - prepaid items 44,094              -                      -                      -                      (44,094)      -                      
Restricted 2,017,445        -                      -                      -                      -               2,017,445        
Unassigned 527,580           -                      (4,635)               (1,074,138)      44,094       (507,099)          

Total fund balances/net position 2,589,119$     7,840,026$     (4,635)$             (1,074,138)$    -$            9,350,372$     
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B. Explanation of Differences Between Governmental Fund Operating Statements and the 
Statement of Activities 

 
The “net change in fund balances” for governmental funds was a reduction of $144,753 and differs 
from the “change in net position” for governmental activities of $1,004,307 reported in the 
statement of activities.  The differences arise primarily from the long-term economic focus of the 
statement of activities versus the current financial resources focus of the governmental funds.  The 
effect of the differences is illustrated below. 
 
Capital related items 
 
When capital assets that are to be used in governmental activities are purchased or constructed, the 
resources expended for those assets are reported as expenditures in governmental funds.  However, 
in the statement of activities, the costs of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives 
and reported as depreciation expense.  As a result, fund balances decrease by the amount of 
financial resources expended, whereas net position decrease by the amount of depreciation expense 
charges for the year.  In addition, any gains or losses from the disposal of capital assets are reported 
on the government-wide statement of net position as increases or decreases in net position, 
respectively. 

 

Capital outlay 1,347,218$    
Depreciation expense (442,771)         
     Difference 904,447$        

    
Long-term debt related items 
 
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial 
resources, and therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. 

 

Net increase in compensated absences (15,880)$         
Net decrease in other post-employment benefits (15,428)           
Net increase in net pension liability 373,747          

342,439$        

 
Deferred outflows/inflows of resources 
 
Certain obligations related to prior and subsequent periods are not recognized in governmental 
funds. 

Net increase in Pension/OPEB deferred outflows (72,974)$         
Net increase in Pension/OPEB deferred inflows (314,358)         

(387,332)$       
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
NOTE 2. RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
B.  Explanation of Differences Between Governmental Funds Operating Statement and the Statement of Activities 

Total Capital Long - Term Statement
Governmental Related Deferred Debt of 

Funds Items Inflows/Outflows Transactions Eliminations Activities
REVENUES

Property taxes 457,925$           -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      457,925$           
Other taxes 134,981              -                        -                        -                        -                        134,981              
Intergovernmental 1,391,880          -                        -                        -                        -                        1,391,880          
Licenses and permits 126,213              -                        -                        -                        -                        126,213              
Franchise fees 223,134              -                        -                        -                        -                        223,134              
Fines and forfeitures 1,212                   -                        -                        -                        -                        1,212                   
Charges for service 374,213              -                        -                        -                        -                        374,213              
Rents and leases 4,408                   -                        -                        -                        -                        4,408                   
Other fees and miscellaneous 96,257                -                        -                        -                        -                        96,257                

Total revenues 2,810,223          -                        -                        -                        -                        2,810,223          

EXPENDITURES
Current expenditures

General government 793,947              64,913                241,075              (213,134)            -                        886,801              
Public safety 130,007              18,292                -                        -                        -                        148,299              
Transportation 484,690              181,910              63,755                (56,365)               -                        673,990              
Health services 19,071                23,211                -                        -                        -                        42,282                
Culture and recreation 611,197              154,445              82,502                (72,940)               -                        775,204              
Capital outlay 1,347,218          (1,347,218)         -                        -                        -                        -                        

Total expenditures 3,386,130          (904,447)            387,332              (342,439)            -                        2,526,576          

Excess (deficit) of revenues 
over expenditures (575,907)            904,447              (387,332)            342,439              -                        283,647              

OTHER F INANCING SOURCES (USES)
Interest income 138,760              -                        -                        -                        -                        138,760              
Capital grants 1,105,099          1,105,099          
Interfund transfers in 184,119              -                        -                        -                        (184,119)            -                        
Interfund transfers out (707,318)            -                        -                        -                        184,119              (523,199)            

Total other financing sources (uses) 720,660              -                        -                        -                        -                        720,660              

Net change in fund balance 144,753              904,447              (387,332)            342,439              -                        1,004,307          

Fund balance at beginning of year (restated) 2,444,366          6,935,579          382,697              (1,416,577)         -                        8,346,065          
Fund balance at end of year 2,589,119$       7,840,026$       (4,635)$               (1,074,138)$      -$                      9,350,372$       
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NOTE 3.  LEGAL COMPLIANCE--BUDGETS 
 
The Town follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial 
statements:      
 
1. Prior to September 1, the Town Clerk develops a proposed operating budget for the fiscal 

year commencing the following October 1.  The operating budget includes proposed 
expenditures and the means of financing them. 

 
2. Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments.   
 
3. Prior to September 30, the budget is legally enacted by the Town Council through passage of 

an ordinance. 
 
4. Any revision that alters the total expenditures of any fund or transfers budgeted amounts 

between departments within any fund must be approved by the Town Council. 
 
5. Budgets for all Town funds are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted 

accounting principles (GAAP).  Budgeted amounts are as originally adopted, or as amended 
by the Town Council.   

 
 
NOTE 4. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
Deposits.  The bank balances of the Town deposits totaling $773,535 were insured by federal 
depository insurance or pledged collateral under state law.  Other Town funds totaling $3,452,090 
were invested in Local Government Surplus Funds Trust (Florida PRIME) and are included as cash 
equivalents in the Statement of Net Position due to their short maturities.  Funds in the amount of 
$700 remained uninvested for use as petty cash in the Town’s daily operations. 
 
Investments. The Town’s investment in Florida PRIME is administered by the Florida State Board of 
Administration (SBA).  Florida PRIME is an external investment pool that is not a registrant with the 
SEC; however, the SBA has adopted operating procedures consistent with the requirements for a SEC 
Rule 2a-7 fund.  Florida PRIME is governed by Chapter 19-7 of the Florida Administrative Code, which 
identifies the Rules of the SBA.  These rules provide guidance and establish the general operating 
procedures for the administration of Florida PRIME.  Additionally, the State of Florida, Office of the 
Auditor General performs the operational audit of the activities and investments of the SBA.  
Throughout the year and as of September 30, 2024, Florida PRIME contained certain floating rate 
and adjustable-rate securities that were indexed based on the prime rate and/or one- and three-
month LIBOR.  These floating rate and adjustable-rate securities are used to hedge against interest 
risk and provide diversification to the portfolio.  Exposure to a single issuer is limited to 5% of the 
portfolio’s amortized cost.  Investments in Florida PRIME are not evidenced by securities that exist 
in physical or book entry form.  The current rating for the Florida PRIME is AAAm by Standard and 
Poors.  The weighted average of days to maturity of the Florida PRIME at September 30, 2024 is 39 
days.  The fair value of the Town’s position in the pool approximates the value of the pool shares.  At 
September 30, 2024, the Town had $3,452,090 invested in Florida PRIME.  Florida PRIME’s most 
recent financial statements can be found at https://prime.sbafla.com/monthly-summary-reports. 
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Credit Risk.  Investments in the Florida State Board of Administration Pools (SBA) consist of the Local 
Government Surplus Funds Trust (Florida PRIME).  The Florida PRIME is rated by Standard and Poors.  
The current rating is AAAm.   The Investment Manager of the Florida PRIME manages credit risk by 
purchasing only high qualify securities, performing a credit analysis to develop a database of issuers 
and securities that meet the Investment Manager’s minimum standard and by regularly reviewing 
the portfolio’s securities financial data, issuer news and developments, and ratings of the nationally 
recognized statistical rating organizations. 
 
Interest Rate Risk.  The weighted average days to maturity (WAM) of the Florida PRIME at September 
30, 2024 was 39 days.  The next interest rate reset dates for floating rate securities are used in the 
calculation of the WAM. 
 
Fair Value Measurements 
 
In February 2015, GASB issued GASB Statement No. 72.  GASB 72 applicability related to the 
application of fair value is limited to assets and liabilities that are currently measured at fair value 
and certain investments that are not currently measured at fair value. 
 
Florida PRIME currently meets all of the necessary criteria to elect to measure all of the investments 
in Florida PRIME at amortized cost.  Therefore, the participant account balance is considered the fair 
value of the investment.  Florida PRIME investment is exempt from the GASB 72 fair value hierarchy 
disclosures. 
 
As of September 30, 2024, the Town’s investment in the Florida PRIME investment pool is rated 
AAAm by Standard & Poors. 
 
Investment Objectives 
 
The primary investment objectives for Florida PRIME, in priority order, are safety, liquidity, and 
competitive returns with minimization of risks.  Investment performance of Florida PRIME will be 
evaluated on a monthly basis against the Standard & Poors U.S. AAA & AA Rated GIP All 30-Day Net 
Yield Index.  While there is no assurance that Florida PRIME will achieve its investment objectives, it 
endeavors to do so by following the investment strategies described in its policies. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
The dollar weighted average days to maturity (WAM) of Florida PRIME at September 30, 2024, is 39 
days.  Next interest rate reset dates for floating rate securities are used in the calculation of the WAM.  
The weighted average life (WAL) of Florida PRIME at September 30, 2024, is 74 days. 
 
Foreign Currency Risk 
 
Florida PRIME was not exposed to any foreign currency risk during the period from October 1, 2023 
through September 30, 2024. 
 
Securities Lending 
 
Florida PRIME did not participate in a securities lending program in the period October 1, 2023 
through September 30, 2024. 
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Fair Value Hierarchy 
 
Florida PRIME currently meets all of the necessary criteria to elect to measure all of the investments 
in Florida PRIME at amortized cost; therefore, participant account balances should be also reported 
at amortized cost. 
 
NOTE 5.  PROPERTY TAX REVENUES 
 
All real and tangible personal property taxes are due and payable on November 1 of each year or as 
soon thereafter as the assessment roll is certified by the County Property Appraiser.  The County Tax 
Collector mails to each property owner on the assessment roll a notice of taxes levied by the Town 
and other governmental entities in the County.  Taxes may be paid upon receipt of such notice with 
discounts at the rate of four percent (4%) if paid in the month of November, three percent (3%) if 
paid in the month of December, two percent (2%) if paid in the month of January, and one percent 
(1%) if paid in the month of February.  Taxes paid during the month of March are without discount.  
All unpaid taxes on real and tangible personal property become delinquent taxes, and are collected 
through applicable tax certificate sales, tax deed sales, and tangible personal property seizure and 
sales as provided for by the laws of Florida.  Due to those collection procedures, no material amounts 
of delinquent taxes were due the Town at year end.  Collections of Town taxes and remittances are 
accounted for in the County Tax Collector’s office. 
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NOTE 6.  CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2024, was as follows: 
 

Beginning Ending

Governmental activities: Balance Reclasses Additions Deletions Balance

Non-depreciable capital assets 

    Land 883,450$           -$                     1,085,452$        -$                     1,968,902$        

    Construction in progress 228,784              -                       109,457              -                       338,241              

       Total non-depreciable capital assets 1,112,234          -                       1,194,909          -                       2,307,143          

Depreciable capital assets: 

    Buildings 4,745,987          -                       -                       -                       4,745,987          

    Infrastructure 4,212,103          -                       73,825                -                       4,285,928          

    Machinery and equipment 2,307,872          -                       78,484                -                       2,386,356          

    Other depreciable assets 267,959              -                       -                       -                       267,959              

       Total depreciable capital assets 11,533,921        -                       152,309              -                       11,686,230        

Less accumulated depreciation

    Buildings (2,653,049)         -                       (110,060)            -                       (2,763,109)         

    Infrastructure (1,511,798)         -                       (183,828)            -                       (1,695,626)         

    Machinery and equipment (1,368,513)         -                       (124,501)            -                       (1,493,014)         

    Other depreciable assets (177,216)            -                       (24,382)               -                       (201,598)            

       Total accumulated depreciation (5,710,576)         -                       (442,771)            -                       (6,153,347)         

    Total depreciable capital assets, net 5,823,345          -                       (290,462)            -                       5,532,883          

Governmental activities capital

  assets, net 6,935,579$        -$                         904,447$           -$                         7,840,026$        

Business-type activities:

Non-depreciable capital assets 

  Land 27,500$              -$                     -$                     -$                     27,500$              

  Construction in progress 13,017                -                       638,466              (647,670)            3,813                  

       Total Non-depreciable capital assets 40,517                -                       638,466              (647,670)            31,313                

Depreciable capital assets: 

  Buildings and improvements 17,200,465        -                       346,921              647,670              18,195,056        

  Machinery and equipment 774,268              -                       25,258                -                       799,526              

       Total depreciable capital assets 17,974,733        -                       372,179              647,670              18,994,582        

Less accumulated depreciation

  Buildings and improvements (8,341,557)         -                       (469,545)            -                       (8,811,102)         

  Machinery and equipment (459,151)            -                       (40,632)               -                       (499,783)            

       Total accumulated depreciation (8,800,708)         -                       (510,177)            -                       (9,310,885)         

Business-type activities capital

  assets, net 9,214,542$        -$                     500,468$           -$                     9,715,010$        

   
Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the Town as follows: 
 

Governmental activities:
  General Government 64,913$          
  Public Safety 18,292            
  Transportation 181,910          
  Health services 23,211            
  Parks and recreation 154,445          
Total depreciation expense - governmental entities 442,771$        

Business-type activities:
  Water and sewer utility 510,177$        
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NOTE 7.  INTERFUND ACITIVITY 
 
Interfund transfers for the year ended September 30, 2024, consisted of the following: 
 

 

Fund Transfers in Transfers out
General 184,119$        -$                 
Discretionary Sales Tax -                   707,318          
Water and Sewer 523,199          -                   

707,318$        707,318$        
    

Transfers were used for grant matching fund reimbursements, payment of long-term debt, and 
capital projects.       
 
Interfund receivables/payables represent loans to fund expenditures of other funds, as of September 
30, 2024, interfund loan balances consisted of the following: 
 

Due To Due From

General Fund 499,457$        -$                 
Water and Sewer Fund 499,457          

499,457$        499,457$        

 
 
NOTE 8.  RECEIVABLE AND PAYABLE BALANCES 
 
Accounts Receivable and Amounts Due From Other Governmental Units 
 
Accounts receivable and amounts due from other governmental units, net of any allowances, at 
September 30, 2024, were as follows: 
 

 

Due from 
Others/

Governmental Total
Accounts Units Receivables

Governmental activities: 54,549$          1,111,289$    1,165,838$    
Business-type activities: 145,973          -                       145,973          
  200,522$        1,111,289$    1,311,811$    

 
 
Based upon collection history, the Town has included a reserve for doubtful accounts for its Enterprise 
Fund accounts receivable of $30,923 . 
 
Payables 
 
Payables at September 30, 2024, were as follows:    
 

 

Vendors
Governmental activities: 73,890
Business-type activities: 293,244
   367,134$        

 
NOTE 9.  LEASES 
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Governmental Funds – The Town is the lessor on a long-term agreement whereby it leases a piece 
of land to a mobile network provider for a cellular tower.  The original agreement was entered into in 
2007 and is set to expire in 2045, with the potential for future 5-year extensions.  Rent, which 
increases by 3% each year, is paid on a monthly basis and recorded in the governmental  fund 
financial statements.  As a result of the implementation of SGAS No. 87, Leases, the Town records 
on its governmental fund financial statements a lease receivable and an offsetting deferred inflow 
of resources.  A portion of the Lease receipts are recognized as interest revenue with the remaining 
balance reducing the lease receivable.  The deferred inflow of resources is amortized on a straight-
line basis over the projected life of the lease, and lease revenue is recognized as the deferred inflow 
of resources is amortized.  For the year ending September 30, 2024, the Town has reported a lease 
receivable and deferred inflow of resources related to leases of $209,294 and $92,545 respectively, 
on its governmental funds’ balance sheet.   
 
In October 2023, the Town terminated the lease agreement.  As a result of the reduced term 
remaining on the lease, no receivable or deferred inflow of resources has been recognized on the 
government-wide financial statements, and a loss in the amount of $103,212 was shown in 
accordance with the termination of the agreement.  As shown below, lease income and interest 
revenue were still applicable for payments received in year ending September 30, 2023.   
 
Proprietary Fund – In 2001, the Town entered into an agreement to lease a portion of its water tower 
to a mobile network provider for use as a cellular antenna. This lease had an initial term of five years 
with the option to renew for five additional five-year periods, all of which have been exercised.  Annual 
rent was increased by 15% upon each renewal.  As a result of the implementation of SGAS No. 87, 
Leases, the Town has reported a lease receivable and an offsetting deferred inflow of resources on 
its proprietary fund balance sheet.  In October 2023, the Town terminated the lease agreement.  As 
a result of the reduced term remaining on the lease, no receivable or deferred inflow of resources 
has been recognized on the business activities financial statements, and a loss in the amount of 
$31,863 was shown in accordance with the termination of the agreement.   
 
Interest revenue and lease revenue for the year ending September 30, 2024 is as follows: 
 

Governmental 
Funds

Interest Revenue 16,195          
Lease Revenue 4,407            
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NOTE 10.  LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
 
Governmental Activities 
 
Summary of changes in governmental activities long-term liabilities 
 
The following summarizes the changes in the Town’s governmental long-term liabilities during the 
year ended September 30, 2024: 
 

 

Balance Balance Due

October September Within

1, 2023 Increases Decreases 30, 2024 One Year

Compensated absences 105,796$     15,880$       -$              121,676$     30,419$       

Other post-employment

  benefits 120,299       15,428          -                 135,727       -                 

Net pension liability 1,190,482    -                 (373,747)      816,735       -                 

Total 1,416,577$  31,308$       (373,747)$    1,074,138$  30,419$       

   
Business-type Activities 
 
A summary of proprietary fund debt as of September 30, 2024, follows: 
 
Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds 1996 – The Town issued Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 
1996 to finance the costs of acquisition, construction of additions, extensions and improvements to 
the Town’s water and sewer system.  The bonds are secured by and paid from gross revenues of the 
Town’s water and sewer system.  The bonds covenants specify that the Town must fund and maintain 
a sinking fund by depositing one-twelfth of the yearly principal and interest payments in a sinking 
fund.  The bonds covenants also require that a reserve fund be established by depositing a monthly 
amount of $481 in a reserve fund until a balance of $57,671 is achieved.  Funds in the Reserve 
Account may be used to (1) pay the cost of repairing or replacing any damage to the system which 
shall be caused by an unforeseen catastrophe, (2) constructing improvements or extensions to the 
system which shall increase its net revenues and which shall be approved by the consulting 
engineers, and (3) paying the principal of and interest on the bonds in the event that the moneys in 
the sinking fund shall ever be insufficient to meet such payments.  The bonds bear interest at a rate 
of 4.5% per annum.  Such bonds are payable annually on September 1st of each year through 2038. 
 
In the event of default, the bond holder has the right to take whatever action necessary to collect the 
amounts due and may, at their option, declare the outstanding principal and accrued interest to be 
due and payable immediately and may take possession of the water and wastewater system to 
repair, maintain, operate or rent the facilities as may be necessary to cure the default.  
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Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds 2010 – The Town issued Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 
2010 to refund the Tax Anticipation Notes, Series 2011, in the amount of $3,873,000.  The Tax 
Anticipation Notes, Series 2011 were issued for interim financing to acquire and construct additions, 
extensions and improvements to the Town’s water and sewer system.  The bonds are secured by and 
paid from gross revenues of the Town’s water and sewer system.  The bonds covenants specify that 
the Town must fund and maintain a sinking fund by depositing one-twelfth of the yearly principal and 
interest payments in a sinking fund.  The bonds covenants also require that a reserve fund be 
established, not expected to remain in excess of $247,070 for any great length of time, to (1) pay 
the cost of repairing or replacing any damage to the system which shall be caused by an unforeseen 
catastrophe, and (2) paying operating expenses and debt service expenditures on the bonds in the 
event that the moneys in the sinking fund shall ever be insufficient to meet such payments.  The 
bonds bear interest at a rate of 2.75% per annum.  Such bonds are payable annually on September 
1st of each year through 2051. 
 
In the event of default, the bond holder has the right to take whatever action necessary to collect the 
amounts due and may, at their option, declare the outstanding principal and accrued interest to be 
due and payable immediately and may take possession of the water and wastewater system to 
repair, maintain, operate or rent the facilities as may be necessary to cure the default.  
 
Revenue bonds outstanding at year end are as follows: 
 

 

Interest Rates Amount
Water and sewer system improvements 4.50% 590,000
Water and sewer system improvements 2.75% 3,226,000

3,816,000$        

Purpose

 
Future principal and interest payments for these bonds are as follows: 

 

 

Fiscal Year Ending
September Principal Interest Total

2025 103,000              115,265              218,265              
2026 108,000              111,890              219,890              
2027 112,000              108,343              220,343              
2028 117,000              104,668              221,668              
2029 120,000              100,820              220,820              

2030-2034 678,000              441,298              1,119,298          
2035-2039 762,000              320,392              1,082,392          
2040-2044 664,000              214,418              878,418              
2045-2049 793,000              116,297              909,297              
2050-2051 359,000              14,905                373,905              

3,816,000$        1,648,296$        5,464,296$        
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A schedule of changes in proprietary fund debt follows: 
 

 

Balance Balance
October September Due Within
1, 2021 Increases Decreases 30, 2022 One Year

Bonds payable 3,916,000$     -$                 (100,000)$       3,816,000$     103,000$        
Other post-employment
  benefits 60,276 1,268           -                      61,544            -                      
Compensated absences 51,543 3,182           -                      54,725 13,681            
Net pension liability 596,964 -                   (226,623)         370,341          -                      

4,624,783$     4,450$         (326,623)$       4,302,610$     116,681$        
   

 
 
NOTE  11.  COST-SHARING MULTIPLE EMPLOYER DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS - FLORIDA 

RETIREMENT SYSTEM PENSION PLAN AND THE RETIREE HEALTH INSURANCE SUBSIDY 
PROGRAM  

 
Florida Retirement System 
 
General Information - All of the Town’s employees participate in the Florida Retirement System (FRS).  
As provided by Chapters 121 and 112, Florida Statutes, the FRS provides two cost sharing, multiple 
employer defined benefit plans administered by the Florida Department of Management Services, 
Division of Retirement, which include the FRS Pension Plan (Pension Plan) and the Retiree Health 
Insurance Subsidy (HIS Plan).  Under Section 121.4501, Florida Statutes, the FRS also provides a 
defined contribution plan (Investment Plan) alternative to the FRS Pension Plan, which is 
administered by the State Board of Administration (SBA). As a general rule, membership in the FRS 
is compulsory for all employees who work in a regularly established position for a state agency, 
county government, district school board, state university, community college, or a participating city 
or special district within the State of Florida.  The FRS provides retirement and disability benefits, 
annual cost-of-living adjustments, and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries.  Benefits 
are established by Chapter 121, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 60S, Florida Administrative Code.  
Amendments to the law can be made only by an act of the Florida State Legislature.   
 
The State of Florida annually issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial 
statements and required supplementary information for the FRS.  The latest available report may be 
obtained by writing to the State of Florida Division of Retirement, Department of Management 
Services, P.O. Box 9000, Tallahassee, Florida 32315-9000, or from the Web site:  
www.dms.myflorida.com/workforce_operations/retirement/publications/annual_reports. 
 
Pension Plan 
 
Plan Description – The Pension Plan is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension 
plan, with a Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP) for eligible employees. 
 
Benefits Provided - Benefits under the Pension Plan are computed on the basis of age, average final 
compensation, and service credit.  For Pension Plan members enrolled before July 1, 2011, Regular 
class members who retire at or after age 62 with at least six years of credited service or 30 years of 
service regardless of age are entitled to a retirement benefit payable monthly for life, equal to 1.6% 
of their final average compensation based on the five highest years of salary, for each year of credited 
service.  This amount increases with every year of additional service up to a maximum of 1.68% of 
the final average compensation of their five highest years for each year of credited service at age 65 
with 33 or more years of service.  Vested members with less than 30 years of service may retire 

65

ITEM-3



 

58 
 

before age 62 and receive reduced retirement benefits.  Special Risk Administrative Support class 
members who retire at or after age 55 with at least six years of credited service (age 52 if credited 
service includes at least four years of wartime military service) or 25 years of service regardless of 
age are entitled to a retirement benefit payable monthly for life, beginning at 1.6% of their final 
average compensation based on the five highest years of salary, for each year of credited service 
and increasing to a maximum of 1.68% of each year up to age 58 (55 with wartime service) and 28 
years of special risk service. Special Risk class members (sworn law enforcement officers, 
firefighters, and correctional officers) who retire at or after age 55 (age 52 with wartime experience) 
with at least six years of credited service, or with 25 years of service regardless of age, are entitled 
to a retirement benefit payable monthly for life, equal to 3.0% of their final average compensation 
based on the five highest years of salary for each year of credited service. Senior Management 
Service class members who retire at or after age 62 with at least six years of credited service or 30 
years of service regardless of age are entitled to a retirement benefit payable monthly for life, equal 
to 2.0% of their final average compensation based on the five highest years of salary for each year 
of credited service.  Elected Officers’ class members who retire at or after age 62 with at least six 
years of credited service or 30 years of service regardless of age are entitled to a retirement benefit 
payable monthly for life, equal to 3.0% (3.33% for judges and justices) of their final average 
compensation based on the five highest years of salary for each year of credited service.  
 
For Plan members enrolled on or after July 1, 2011, the vesting requirement is extended to eight 
years of credited service for all these members and increasing normal retirement to age 65 or 33 
years of service regardless of age for Regular, Senior Management Service, and Elected Officers’ 
class members, and to age 60 or 30 years of service regardless of age for Special Risk and Special 
Risk Administrative Support class members. The final average compensation for all these members 
is also based on the eight highest years of salary. 
 
As provided in Section 121.101, Florida Statutes, if the member is initially enrolled in the Pension 
Plan before July 1, 2011, and all service credit was accrued before August 1, 2011, the annual 
cost-of­ living adjustment is three percent per year. The cost-of-living adjustment for participants 
with a retirement date or DROP participation date after August 1, 2011 is determined by dividing the 
sum of the pre-July 2011 service credit by the total service credit at retirement and multiplying by 
three percent .  Plan members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011, will not have a cost-of-living 
adjustment after retirement. 
 
In addition to the above benefits, the DROP program allows eligible members to defer receipt of 
monthly retirement benefit payments while continuing employment with an FRS employer for a 
period not to exceed 96 months after electing to participate.  Deferred monthly benefits are held in 
the FRS Trust Fund and accrue interest. There are no required contributions by DROP participants. 
 
Contributions – Effective July 1, 2011, all enrolled members of the FRS, other than DROP 
participants, are required to contribute three percent of their salary to the FRS.  In addition to 
member contributions, governmental employers are required to make contributions to the FRS 
based on state-wide contribution rates established by the Florida Legislature. These rates are 
updated as of July 1 of each year.  The employer contribution rates by job class for the periods from 
October 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024 and from July 1, 2024 through September 30, 2024. 
respectively, were as follows:  
  

66

ITEM-3



 

59 
 

 
 

The Town’s contributions, including employee contributions, to the Pension Plan totaled $180,775 
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024. 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions – At September 30, 2024, the Town reported a liability of $833,327 
for its proportionate share of the Pension Plan’s net pension liability. The net pension liability was 
measured as of June 30, 2024, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension 
liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2024. The Town’s proportionate 
share of the net pension liability was based on the Town’s 2023-2024 fiscal year contributions 
relative to the 2022-2023 fiscal year contributions of all participating members. At June 30, 2024, 
the Town's proportionate share was 0.002154151 percent, which was an decrease of 28.29 percent 
from its proportionate share measured as of June 30, 2024. 
 
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, the Town recognized a pension expense of $153,802. 
In addition, the Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows 
Description of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual
  experience 84,188$                -$                     

Changes in assumptions 114,215                -                       

Net difference between projected and actual
  earnings on Pension Plan investments -                         55,387                

Changes in proportion and differences
  between Town Pension Plan contributions and
  proportionate share of contributions 137,085                219,570              

Town Pension Plan contributions subsequent
  to the measurement date 34,306                  -                       

Total 369,794$              274,957$            
  

  

October 1 2023 - July 1, 2024 -
Class June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024

Regular Class 13.57% 13.63%
Special Risk Class 32.67% 32.79%
Special Risk Administrative Support 39.82% 39.82%
Elected Officers Class 58.68% 58.68%
Senior Management Class 34.52% 34.52%
Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP) 21.13% 21.13%
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The deferred outflows of resources related to the Pension Plan, totaling $60,531 resulting from Town 
contributions to the Plan subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as a change in  
the net pension liability in the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024. Other amounts reported as 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the Pension Plan will be 
recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ending
September 30 Amount

2025 (5,362)$                
2026 58,248                 
2027 4,246                   
2028 201                       
2029 3,198                   

Thereafter -                            
60,531$               

  
Actuarial Assumptions – The total pension liability in the July 1, 2024 actuarial valuation was 
determined using the following actuarial assumption, applied to all period included in the 
measurement: 
 
 Inflation    3.50% 
 Salary increases   3.50%, average, including inflation 
 Investment rate of return  6.70%, net of pension plan investment 
      expense, including inflation 
 Discount rate     6.70% 
 
Mortality rates were based on the PUB-2010 base table, generationally mortality using the gender 
specific MP 2018 mortality improvement projection scale.  
 
The actuarial assumptions used  in the July 1, 2024, valuation were based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2013 through June 30, 2018. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on Pension Plan investments was not based on historical 
returns but instead is based on a forward-looking capital market economic model. The allocation 
policy’s description of each asset class was used to map the target allocation to the asset classes 
shown below. Each asset class assumption is based on a consistent set of underlying assumptions 
and includes an adjustment for the inflation assumption. The target allocation and best estimates of 
arithmetic and geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the 
following table: 

 

Compound
Annual Annual

Target Arithmetic (Geometric) Standard
Asset Class Allocation (1) Return Return Deviation

Cash 1.0% 3.3% 3.3% 1.1%
Fixed Income 29.0% 5.7% 5.6% 3.9%
Global Equity 45.0% 8.6% 7.0% 18.2%
Real Estate  12.0% 8.1% 6.8% 16.6%
Private Equity 11.0% 12.4% 8.8% 28.4%
Strategic Investments 2.0% 6.6% 6.2% 8.7%
Total 100.0%

Assumed Inflation - Mean 2.4% 1.5%

(1) As outlined in the Pension Plan's investment policy
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Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.70%. The Pension 
Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the discount rate for calculation the 
total pension liability is equal to the long-term expected rate of return. 
 
Sensitivity of the Town’s Proportionate Share of the Net Position Liability to Changes in the Discount 
Rate - The following represents the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated 
using the discount rate of 6.70%, as well as what the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (5.70%) 
or one percentage point higher (7.70%) than the current rate: 

Current 
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

5.70% 6.70% 7.70%
Towns's proportionate share of 
  the net pension liability 1,465,793$            833,327$                303,503$             

  
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position -  Detailed information regarding the Pension Plan’s fiduciary net 
position is available in the separately issued FRS Pension Plan and Other State-Administered 
Systems Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 
 
Payables to the Pension Plan - The Town had no material payable for outstanding contributions to 
the Pension Plan required for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024. 
 
HIS Plan 
 
Plan Description – The HIS Plan is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan 
established under Section 112.363, Florida Statutes, and may be amended by the Florida legislature 
at any time. The benefit is a monthly payment to assist retirees of State-administered retirement 
systems in paying their health insurance costs and is administered by the Florida Department of 
Management Services, Division of Retirement. 
 
Benefits Provided – For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, eligible retirees and beneficiaries 
received a monthly HIS payment of $7.50 for each year of creditable service completed at the time 
of retirement, with a minimum HIS payment of $45 and a maximum HIS payment of $225 per 
month. To be eligible to receive these benefits, a retiree under a State-administered retirement 
system must provide proof of health insurance coverage, which may include Medicare. 
 
Contributions – The HIS Plan is funded by required contributions from FRS participating employers 
as set by the Florida Legislature. Employer contributions are a percentage of gross compensation for 
all active FRS members. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, the HIS contribution for the 
period October 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024 and from July 1, 2024 through September 30, 2024 
was 2.00% and 2.00%, respectively. The Town contributed 100% of its statutorily required 
contributions for the current and preceding three years. HIS Plan contributions are deposited in a 
separate trust fund from which payments are authorized. HIS Plan benefits are not guaranteed and 
are subject to annual legislative appropriation. In the event legislative appropriation or available 
funds fail to provide full subsidy benefits to all participants, benefits may be reduced or cancelled. 
 
The Town’s contributions, including employee contributions to the HIS Plan totaled $29,588 for the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2024.  
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions – At September 30, 2024, the Town reported a liability of $353,749 
for its proportionate share of the HIS Plan’s net pension liability. The net pension liability was 
measured as of June 30, 2024, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension 
liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2023. The Town’s proportionate share 
of the net pension liability was based on the Town’s 2023-2024 fiscal year contributions relative to 
the 2022-2023 fiscal year contributions of all participating members. At June 30, 2024, the Town's 
proportionate share was 0.002358174 percent, which was an decrease of 36.57 percent from its 
proportionate share measured as of June 30, 2023. 
 
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, the Town recognized pension expense of $258,184. 
In addition, the Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 

 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows 
Description of Resources of Resources
Differences between expected and actual
  experience 3,416$              679$                

Changes in assumptions 6,261                41,879             

Net difference between projected and actual
  earnings on HIS Plan investments -                     128                  

Changes in proportion and differences
  between Town HIS Plan contributions and
  proportionate share of contributions 120,579            190,293           

Town HIS Plan contributions subsequent
  to the measurement date 5,593                -                    

Total 135,849$          232,979$        

 
The deferred outflows of resources related to the HIS Plan, totaling $102,723 resulting from Town 
contributions to the HIS Plan subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as a reduction 
of the net pension liability in the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024. Other amounts reported as 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the HIS Plan will be 
recognized in pension expense as follows: 

 

Fiscal Year Ending
September 30 Amount

2025 (13,028)$             
2026 (16,074)               
2027 (23,416)               
2028 (16,372)               
2029 (8,921)                 

Thereafter (24,912)               
(102,723)$          
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Actuarial Assumptions – The total pension liability in the July 1, 2024, actuarial valuation was 
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the 
measurement: 
 
 Inflation    3.50% 
 Salary increases   3.25%, average, including inflation 
 Municipal bond rate   3.93% 
 
Mortality rates were based on the PUB-2010 base table, generational mortality using the gender 
specific MP 2018 mortality improvement projection scale. 
 
The actuarial valuations were prepared as of July 1, 2024 valuation was based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study, completed in 2024, for the period July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2023. 
 
Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 3.93%. In general, 
the discount rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal to the single rate equivalent to 
discounting at the long-term expected rate of return for benefit payments prior to the projected 
depletion date. Because the HIS benefit is essentially funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, the depletion 
date is considered to be immediate, and the single equivalent discount rate is equal to the municipal 
bond rate selected by the HIS Plan sponsor. The Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-Bond Municipal 
Bond Index was adopted as the applicable municipal bond index. 
 
Sensitivity of the Town’s Proportionate Share of the Net Position Liability to Changes in the Discount 
Rate - The following represents the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated 
using the discount rate of 3.93%, as well as what the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (2.93%) 
or one percentage point higher (4.93%) than the current rate: 

 

Current 
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

2.93% 3.93% 4.93%
Towns's proportionate share of 
  the net pension liability 402,698$                353,749$                313,114$             

 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position -  Detailed information regarding the HIS Plan’s fiduciary net 
position is available in the separately issued FRS Pension Plan and Other State-Administered 
Systems Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 
 
Payables to the Pension Plan -  The Town had no payable for outstanding contributions to the HIS 
Plan required for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024. 
 
Investment Plan 
 
The SBA administers the defined contribution plan officially titled the FRS Investment Plan. The 
Investment Plan is reported in the SBA’s annual financial statements and in the State of Florida 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 
 
As provided in Section 121.4501, Florida Statutes, eligible FRS members may elect to participate in 
the Investment Plan in lieu of the FRS defined benefit plan. District employees participating in 
DROP are not eligible to participate in the Investment Plan.                    Employer and employee contributions, 
including amounts contributed to individual member's accounts, are defined by law, but the 
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ultimate benefit depends in part on the performance of investment funds. Benefit terms, 
including contribution requirements, for the Investment Plan are established and may be amended 
by the Florida Legislature. The Investment Plan is funded with the same employer and employee 
contribution rates that are based on salary and membership class (Regular Class, Elected Officers, 
etc.), as the Pension Plan.  Contributions are directed to individual member accounts, and the 
individual members allocate contributions and account balances among various approved 
investment choices.  Costs of administering the Investment Plan, including the FRS Financial 
Guidance Program, are funded through an employer contribution of 0.06 percent of payroll and by 
forfeited benefits of plan members.  Allocations to the investment member's accounts at the end 
of the 2023 fiscal year, as established by Section 121.72, Florida Statutes, are based on a 
percentage of gross compensation, by class, as follows: Regular class 11.51%, Special Risk 
Administrative Support class 37.76%, Special Risk class 30.61%, Senior Management Service class 
32.46% and Elected Officers class 56.62%.  
 
For all membership classes, employees are immediately vested in their own contributions and are 
vested after one year of service for employer contributions and investment earnings. If an 
accumulated benefit obligation for service credit originally earned under the Pension Plan is 
transferred to the Investment Plan, the member must have the years of service required for Pension 
Plan vesting (including the service credit represented by the transferred funds) to be vested for these 
funds and the earnings on the funds. Nonvested employer contributions are placed in a suspense 
account for up to five years. If the employee returns to FRS-covered employment within the five-year 
period, the employee will regain control over their account. If the employee does not return within 
the five-year period, the employee will forfeit the accumulated account balance. For the fiscal 
year ended September 30, 2024, the information for the amount of forfeitures was unavailable 
from the SBA; however, management believes that these amounts, if any, would be immaterial to 
the Town. 
 
After termination and applying to receive benefits, the member may rollover vested funds to another 
qualified plan, structure a periodic payment under the Investment Plan, receive a lump­sum 
distribution, leave the funds invested for future distribution, or any combination of these options. 
Disability coverage is provided; the member may either transfer the account balance to the Pension 
Plan when approved for disability retirement to receive guaranteed lifetime monthly benefits under 
the Pension Plan or remain in the Investment Plan and rely upon that account balance for retirement 
income. 
 
The Town had 8 participants in the Investment Plan for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024. 
 
NOTE 12.  OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) 
 
Plan Description 
  
The Town has previously established and maintains an employee group health insurance plan (the 
Plan) that it makes available to eligible retirees in accordance with the State of Florida law and Town 
ordinance. The Plan is a single employer, experience rated insurance plan that provides medical, 
dental and vision benefits to eligible retirees and their eligible dependents. The postretirement 
benefit portion of the Plan refers to the medical, dental and vision benefits applicable to current and 
future retirees and their eligible dependents. The Plan does not issue a stand-alone report and is not 
included in the report of a Public Employee Retirement System or another entity. 
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Membership of each plan consisted of the following: 

Date of Actuarial Valuation: 9/30/2024

Retirees and Beneficiaries Receiving Benefits -                     
Active Plan Members 6                    
Total 6                    

 
Funding Policy 
 
In prior years, the Town has followed a pay-as-you-go funding policy, contributing only those amounts 
necessary to provide for its portion of current year benefit cost and expenses. The contribution 
requirements of plan members, if any, are established by the Town. Eligible retirees pay the full cost 
of blended rate premiums associated with the medical plan elected; no direct Town subsidy is 
currently applicable. However, there are implicit costs of the medical plan for retirees, as their claims 
experience is higher than the blended rate premiums. State of Florida Law prohibits the Town from 
separately rating retirees and active employees specifically for medical plan benefits. The Town, 
therefore, assigns eligible active employees and eligible retirees equal, blended-rate premiums and 
makes available to both groups the same plan options. Although both groups are assigned the same 
blended rate premiums, generally accepted auditing principles (GAAP) requires the actuarial 
liabilities presented below to be calculated using age-adjusted premiums approximating claim costs 
for eligible retirees separate from active eligible members. The use of age-adjusted premiums results 
in the full expected retiree obligation recognized in this disclosure. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The OPEB is recorded in the government-wide financial statements, and the enterprise fund only on 
the accrual basis of accounting. 
 
Annual OPEB Costs and Net OPEB Obligation 
 
The Annual OPEB Cost is the amount that was expensed for the fiscal year. For the year ended 
September 30, 2024, the Town recognized an OPEB expense of $16,696.  Since the Town’s OPEB 
plan is currently unfunded, the offset to that expense comes from subsidies paid on behalf of the 
current retirees and their dependents for the current year. This offset is called the Employer 
Contribution, and equals the total age-adjusted premiums paid by the Town for coverage for the 
retirees and their dependents for the year (net of the retiree’s own payments for the year). The 
cumulative difference between the Annual OPEB Cost for the year and the Employer Contribution for 
the year is called the Net OPEB Obligation. The Net OPEB Obligation is reflected as a liability in the 
statement of net position. 
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Total OPEB Liability – The Town’s total OPEB liability as of September 30, 2024 was determined by 
an actuarial valuation as of October 1, 2023 using September 30, 2024 as the measurement date. 
The actuarial assumptions used in the October 1, 2020 valuation were as follows: 
 
 Inflation   3.00% 
 Salary Increases  3.00% 
 Discount Rate  4.06% 
 Initial Trend Rate  7.00% for 2024 
 Ultimate Trend Rate  4.50% 
 Year to Ultimate Trend Rate        10 
  
 
Mortality assumptions are based upon the PUB-2010 mortality table with an MP-2021 projection.  

 
The discount rate used to discount all future benefit payments is 4.06% per annum and is based on 
the return of the S&P Municipal Bond 20-year High Grade Index as of the measurement date. 

 
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability: 

 

Total
OPEB

Liability
Reporting period ending September 30, 2023 180,575$     
Changes for the year:
  Service Cost 4,827            
  Interest 8,794            
  Difference between expected and actual experience (7,599)           
  Changes in assumptions 10,674          
Net changes 16,696          
Reporting period ending September 30, 2024 197,271$     

 
Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate – The following table presents 
the total OPEB liability of the Town, as well as what the Town’s total OPEB liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (3.06%) or 1-percentage-point 
higher (5.06%) than the current discount rate. 

 

Current 
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

3.06% 4.06% 5.06%
Total other postemployment
  benefits liability 209,234$          197,271$          185,992$        

 
Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates – The following 
table presents the total OPEB liability of the Town, as well as what the Town’s total OPEB liability 
would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower 
(3.50% to 6.00%) or 1-percentage-point higher (5.50% to 8.00% than the current healthcare cost 
trend rates: 
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Current 
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(3.50% to 6.00%) (4.50% to 7.00%) (5.50% to 8.00%)
Total other postemployment
  benefits liability 183,462$          197,271$          212,853$        

 
OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions – At September 30, 2024, the Town reported an amount of $197,271 
for its OPEB liability.   
 
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, the Town recognized an OPEB expense of OPEB of 
$16,696.  In addition,  the Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows 
Description of Resources of Resources
Differences between expected and actual
  experience 31,430$           37,237$        

Changes in assumptions 22,207             20,844          

Net difference between projected and actual
  earnings on OPEB Plan investments -                        -                     
Total 53,637$           58,081$        

 
  

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
the OPEB Plan will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 

 

Fiscal Year Ending
September 30 Amount

2025 (2,322)$               
2026 (2,322)                 
2027 (2,326)                 
2028 (1,724)                 
2029 (2,858)                 

Thereafter 7,108                  
(4,444)$               
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NOTE 13.   RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Town is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the Town carries commercial insurance.  
Insurance against losses is provided for the following types of risk: 

 
 Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability 
 General and Automobile Liability 
 Real and Personal Property Damage 
 Public Officials’ Liability 
 Employee Dishonesty Bond 

 
NOTE 14.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by grantor 
agencies, principally the State and Federal governments.  Any disallowed claims, including amounts 
already collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds.  The amount, if any, of 
expenditures which may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time, although 
the Town expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 
 
NOTE 15.  PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 
 
During the fiscal year 2024 audit, it was determined that certain lease related balances from the 
year ended September 30, 2023 were not properly presented in the financial statements. The 
financial statements for the prior year have been restated accordingly.  
 
The Town is the owner and lessor of a cell phone tower in the General Fund. This lease was 
prematurely treated as terminated in the prior year’s financial statements. This resulted in the early 
removal of the associated lease receivable and deferred inflow of resources from the books, resulting 
in a loss which was recognized in the government-wide financial statements. In reality, the lease 
remained in effect, so these lease assets and deferred inflows should not have been derecognized 
at that time. 
 
The impact of this restatement is as follows: 
 

Governmental Activ ities 2023
2023 (Restated)

Statement of F inancial Position
  Lease receivable -$                  208,692$        
  Deferred inflow of resources 75,074             172,026           
  Unrestricted net position (588,087)         (476,347)         

Statement of Activ ities
  Loss on cancellation of lease agreeement (111,740)         -                     
  Net position, end of year 8,234,325       8,328,397       
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General Fund 2023
2023 (Restated)

Balance Sheet
  Lease receivable -$                  208,692$        
  Deferred inflow of resources -                     96,952             
  Unassigned fund balances 380,934          492,674           

Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and 
 Changes in Fund Balance
    Fund balance at end of year 456,686          568,426            

 
 
NOTE 16. SUBSEQUENT EVENT  
 
The Town of Hilliard has evaluated events and transactions for potential recognition or disclosure in 
the financial statements through April 2, 2025, the date which the financial statements were 
available to be issued.  No subsequent events have been recognized or disclosed. 
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
GENERAL FUND 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024 
Variance with
Final Budget

Budgeted Budgeted Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES

Property taxes 471,951$       457,925$         457,925$    -$                    

Other taxes 108,500          134,714            134,981       267                     

Intergovernmental 539,450          585,931            585,932       1                          

Licenses and permits 115,100          126,212            126,213       1                          

Franchise fees 200,000          223,134            223,134       -                      

Fines and forfeitures 5,000               1,212                 1,212            -                      

Charges for service 238,350          374,213            374,213       -                      

Rents and leases 15,128            15,594              4,408            (11,186)             

Other fees and miscellaneous 43,145            139,260            96,257          (43,003)             

Total revenues 1,736,624      2,058,195        2,004,275   (53,920)             

EXPENDITURES
Current

General government
Legislative 59,984            62,695              62,692          3                          
Executive 147,660          144,169            144,169       -                      
Finance and administration 489,360          548,305            548,305       -                      
Comprehensive planning 45,000            38,781              38,781          -                      

Public safety 122,722          130,007            130,007       -                      
Transportation 475,612          484,690            484,690       -                      
Health Services 28,000            19,071              19,071          -                      
Culture and recreation 482,866          611,196            611,197       (1)                         

Capital outlay 3,264,728      1,347,219        1,347,218   1                          
Total expenditures 5,115,932      3,386,133        3,386,130   3                          

Excess (deficit) of revenues over expenditures (3,379,308)     (1,327,938)       (1,381,855)  (53,917)             

OTHER F INANCING SOURCES (USES)
Interfund transfers in 553,630          184,119            184,119 -                      
Interest income 85,250            90,584              106,778       16,194              
Capital grants 2,283,228      1,105,099        1,105,099   -                      

Total other financing sources (uses) 2,922,108      1,379,802        1,395,996   16,194              

Net change in fund balance (457,200)        51,864              14,141          (37,723)             

Fund balance at beginning of year (restated) 568,426          568,426            568,426       -                      
Fund balance at end of year 111,226$       620,290$         582,567$    (37,723)$          

See notes to the financial statements.  
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA  
SPECIAL REVENUE FUND 

LOCAL OPTION GAS TAX FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 

BUDGET AND ACTUAL 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024 

 
Variance with
Final Budget

Budgeted Budgeted Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental 248,386$        209,283$        209,283$            -$               

Total revenues 248,386           209,283           209,283              -                 

EXPEND ITURES -                      -                      -                         -                 

Net change in fund balance 248,386           209,283           209,283              -                 

Fund balance at beginning of year 1,006,425       1,006,425       1,006,425           -                 
Fund balance at end of year 1,254,811$     1,215,708$     1,215,708$        -$               

See notes to the financial statements.  
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
SPECIAL REVENUE FUND  

DISCRETIONARY SALES TAX FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 

BUDGET AND ACTUAL 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024 

Variance with
Final Budget

Budgeted Budgeted Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental 576,857$      596,665$      596,665$      -$                 

Total revenues 576,857         596,665         596,665         -                   

EXPENDITURES -                   -                   -                   -                   

Excess of revenues over expenditures 576,857         596,665         596,665         -                   

OTHER F INANCING SOURCES (USES)
Interest income 25,000           31,982           31,982           -                   
Interfund transfers out (1,103,630)    (707,318)       (707,318)       -                   

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,078,630)    (675,336)       (675,336)       -                   

Net change in fund balance (501,773)       (78,671)          (78,671)          -                   

Fund balance at beginning of year 869,515         869,515         869,515         -                   
Fund balance at end of year 367,742$      790,844$      790,844$      -$                 

See notes to the financial statements.  
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 

I. Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 
 

 A. Budgetary information.  The Town, in establishing its budgetary data reflected in the 
financial statements follows the procedures set out in Chapters 166 and 200, Florida 
Statutes.  The Town prepares a tentative budget, which is used by the Town at a public 
workshop to prepare the budgets for the coming year.  Public hearings are conducted to 
obtain taxpayer comments.  Subsequently, these budgets are legally adopted through the 
passage of a resolution at an advertised public session.  Such actions are recorded in the 
town’s minutes. 

 
 The budget is adopted on the modified accrual basis of accounting, which is consistent with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).  The only 
exception to the GAAP basis is the Enterprise Fund, where depreciation is not budgeted for 
capital assets, while capital outlay expenditures are budgeted and are reclassified into fixed 
assets.  These are then eliminated from the results of operations for financial reporting 
purposes in the Enterprise Fund.  Estimated beginning fund balances are considered in the 
budgetary process, but are not included in the financial statements as budgeted revenues. 

 
 The annual budget serves as the legal authorization for expenditures.  All budget 

amendments, which change the legally adopted total appropriation for a fund, are approved 
by the Town Council. 

 
 If during the fiscal year, additional revenue becomes available for appropriations in excess 

of those estimated in the budget, the Town Council, by resolution, may make supplemental 
appropriations for the year up to the amount of such excess. 

 
 The Town follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the 

financial statements: 
 

1. Prior to September 1, the Town Clerk submits to the Town Council a proposed 
operating budget for the fiscal year commencing the following October 1.  The 
operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing 
them. 

 
2. Public hearings are conducted in August and September to obtain taxpayer 

comments. 
 
3. Prior to November 1, the budget is legally enacted through passage of an ordinance. 
 
4. The legal level of budgetary control is the department level; however, the Town 

Council may, by formal motion, transfer appropriations between departments and 
may use surplus revenues  not appropriated in the budget for any municipal 
purpose. 

 
5. Budgets are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 

in the United States of America for governmental fund types. 
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024  
 
The Town obtains an actuarial report every year.  The information presented in the required 
supplementary schedules was determined as part of the actuarial valuations at the dates indicated.  
Additional information as of the actuarial valuation follows: 

 
  Valuation date     October 1, 2024 
  Actuarial cost method    Entry Age Normal 
  Asset valuation method   Market value 
  Actuarial assumptions: 
  Investment rate of return   4.06% 
  Projected salary increases   3.00% 
  Cost-of-living adjustments   None 
  Healthcare inflation rates   7.00% 
 
As of September 30, 2024, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the Plan was unfunded.  The 
actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $197,271 and the actuarial value of assets was $0. 
 
The following Schedule of Funding Progress presents multiyear trend information about whether the 
actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued 
liabilities for benefits. 

 

Accrued UAAL as
Actuarial Liability Unfunded a% of

Actuarial Value of (AAL) AAL Funded Covered Covered
Valuation Assets EAN (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll

Date (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) ((b-1)/c)
10/01/2011 -$                    100,000$      100,000$      0.0% 490,000$            20.4%
10/01/2014 -                      130,000        130,000        0.0% 560,000              23.2%
10/01/2017 -                      119,744        119,744        0.0% 653,981              18.3%
10/01/2018 -                      125,215        125,215        0.0% 732,477              17.1%
10/01/2019 -                      148,211        148,211        0.0% 762,479              19.4%
10/01/2020 -                      146,545        146,545        0.0% 893,088              16.4%
10/01/2021 -                      190,872        190,872        0.0% 896,968              21.3%
10/01/2022 -                      176,562        176,562        0.0% 890,133              19.8%
10/01/2023 -                      180,575        180,575        0.0% 890,133              20.3%
10/01/2024 -                      197,271        197,271        100.0% 965,363              20.4%

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

 
 

Percentage
of Annual Net

Fiscal Year Annual Deferred OPEB Cost OPEB

Ending OPEB Cost Inflows/Outflows Contributed Obligation

9/30/2015 20,000                 -                                       0% 80,000                           

9/30/2016 20,000                 -                                       0% 100,000                         

9/30/2017 20,000                 -                                       0% 120,000                         

9/30/2018 10,637                 (5,422)                            0% 125,215                         

9/30/2019 12,192                 5,382                             0% 148,211                         

9/30/2020 12,687                 (8,971)                            0% 146,545                         

9/30/2021 12,239                 23,117                           0% 190,872                         

9/30/2022 11,958                 (13,151)                          0% 176,562                         

9/30/2023 10,703                 (9,841)                            0% 180,575                         

9/30/2024 16,696                 (4,444)                            0% 197,271                         

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
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2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Town's proportion of the FRS net pension liability (asset) 0.002154151% 0.003004022% 0.002322179% 0.002285661% 0.002176129% 0.002149189% 0.002094049% 0.002017062% 0.002102171% 0.002091187%

Town's proportionate share of the FRS net pension liability (asset) 833,327$               1,197,008$            864,038$               172,656$               943,166$          740,151$          630,739$          596,633$          530,800$          275,574$          

Town's proportion of the  HIS net pension liability (asset) 0.002358174% 0.003717812% 0.002333802% 0.002234101% 0.002139214% 0.002084895% 0.001990617% 0.001942035% 0.001970390% 0.002005955%

Town's proportionate share of the HIS net pension liability (asset) 353,749                 590,438                 247,187                 274,046                 261,194            233,279            210,689            207,651            229,641            204,576            

Town's proportionate share of the total net pension liability (asset) 1,187,076$            1,787,446$            1,111,225$            446,702$               1,204,359$       973,430$          841,428$          804,284$          760,441$          480,150$          

Town's covered-employee payroll 1,105,420$            1,372,901$            854,795$               754,680$               748,053$          708,884$          699,740$          626,425$          606,433$          611,101$          

Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) as a percentage 

of its covered-employee payroll 107.39% 130.19% 130.00% 56.01% 157.94% 138.16% 116.57% 126.96% 125.40% 78.57%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 78.79% 78.79% 79.09% 91.09% 74.46% 78.22% 79.86% 79.30% 79.36% 86.53%

Note 1) The amounts presented for each year were determined as of the June 30 year end of 

the Florida Retirement System

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF THE PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY

FLORIDA RETIREMENT SYSTEM AND HEALTH INSURANCE SUBSIDY PROGRAM

LAST 10 FISCAL YEARS

TOWN OF  HILLIA RD,  F LORIDA
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2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Contractually required FRS contribution  $              180,775  $              207,686  $         132,274  $           93,683  $           80,140  $           71,541  $           80,142  $           73,631  $           68,901  $           70,234 

Contractually required HIS contribution 29,588                   35,147                   18,850              14,129              13,663              12,428              82,160              14,412              13,575              10,495              

Total Contractually Required Contributions 210,363                 242,833                 151,124            107,812            93,803              83,969              162,302            88,043              82,476              80,729              

Contribution in relation to the contractually required contribution (210,363)                (242,833)                (151,124)           (107,812)           (93,803)             (83,969)             (94,638)             (88,043)             (82,476)             (80,729)             

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                       -$                       -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  67,664$            -$                  -$                  -$                  

Town's covered-employee payroll 1,041,756$            1,539,245$            873,868$          797,577$          762,548$          704,569$          721,827$          633,480$          605,259$          609,954$          

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 20.19% 15.78% 17.29% 13.52% 12.30% 11.92% 13.11% 13.90% 13.63% 13.24%

REQU IRED SU P P LEMENTARY INF ORMA TION

SCHEDU LE OF  CONTRIBU TIONS

F LORIDA  RETIREMENT SYSTEM A ND HEA LTH INSU RA NCE SU BSIDY P ROGRA M

LAST 10 F ISCA L YEARS

TOWN OF  HILLIARD,  F LORIDA
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

THE PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY ANDREQUIRED CONTRIBUTIONS 
FLORIDA RETIREMENT SYSTEM AND HEALTH INSURANCE SUBSIDY PROGRAM 

For the Fiscal Year End September 30, 2024 
 

 
 
Net Pension Liability 
 
The components of the collective net pension liability of the participating employers for each defined 
benefit plan for the measurement date of September 30, 2024, are shown below (in thousands): 

 

FRS HIS
Total pension liability 237,370,289,000$ 15,757,751,902$    
Plan fiduciary net position (198,685,586,034)  (756,775,056)          

38,684,702,966$   15,000,976,846$    

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 83.70% 4.80%
of the total pension liability  

 
The total pension liability for each plan was determined by the plans’ actuary and reported in the 
plans’ valuations dated July 1, 2024. The fiduciary net position used by the actuary to determine the 
net pension liability (as shown above) was determined on the same basis used by the plan. The 
fiduciary net position is reported in the financial statements and the net pension liability is disclosed 
in the notes to the financial statements. Update procedures were not used. 
 
The HIS actuarial valuation was prepared as of July 1, 2024.  The fiduciary net position used by the 
actuary to determine the net pension liability (as shown above) was determined on the same basis 
used by the Plan.  The fiduciary net position is reported in the financial statements and the net 
pension liability is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
Basis for Allocation 
 
The employer’s proportionate share reported in the pension allocation schedules was calculated 
using accrued retirement contributions related to the reporting periods included in the System’s fiscal 
years ending June 30, 2015 through 2024, respectively, for employers that were members of the 
FRS and HIS during those fiscal years.  For fiscal year 2024, in addition to contributions from 
employers the required accrued contributions for the Division (paid on behalf of the Division’s 
employees who administer the Plans) were allocated to each employer on a proportionate basis.  The 
Division administers the Plans, and therefore, cannot allocate a portion of the liability to itself.  
Although GASB 68 encourages the use of the employers’ projected long-term contribution effort to 
the retirement plan, allocating on the basis of historical employer contributions is acceptable.  The 
aggregate employer contribution amounts for each fiscal year agree to the employer contribution 
amounts reported in the system’s ACFR for that fiscal year. 
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The proportion calculated based on contributions for each of the fiscal years presented in the pension 
allocation schedules was applied to the net pension liability and other pension amounts applicable 
for that fiscal year to determine each employer’s proportionate share of the liability, deferred outflows 
of resources, deferred inflow of resources and associated pension expense. 
 
For the purposes of the pension allocation schedules, pension amounts are allocated to reporting 
employers.  The pension amounts of participating employers whose payrolls are reported, and 
contributions are remitted by another entity are included in the reporting employer’s amounts and 
will be allocated to the participating employer by the reporting employer. 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
 
Actuarial assumptions for both cost-sharing defined benefit plans are reviewed annually by the 
Florida Retirement System Actuarial Assumptions Conference.  The FRS Pension Plan has a valuation 
performed annually.  The HIS Program has a valuation performed biennially that is updated for GASB 
reporting in the year a valuation is not performed.   The most recent experience study for the FRS 
Pension Plan was completed in 2024 for the period July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2023.  Because 
the HIS Program is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, no experience study has been completed for 
that program.  The actuarial assumptions that determined the total pension liability for the HIS 
Program were based on certain results of the most recent experience study for the FRS Pension Plan. 
 
The total pension liability for each cost-sharing defined benefit plan was determined using the 
individual entry age actuarial cost method.  Inflation increases for both Plans is assumed at 2.40%.  
Payroll growth, including inflation, for both Plans is assumed at 3.50%.  Both the discount rate and 
the long-term expected rate of return used for FRS Pension Plan investments is 6.70%.  The Plan’s 
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 
current active and inactive employees.  Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total pension 
liability is equal to the long-term expected rate of return. 
 
Because the HIS Program uses a pay-as-you-go funding structure, a municipal bond rate of 3.93% 
was used to determine the total pension liability for the program (Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-
Bond Municipal Bond Index).  Mortality assumptions for both Plans were based on the Pub-2010 base 
table.  
 
The following changes in actuarial assumptions occurred in 2024: 
 

 All demographic assumptions and methods were reviewed as part of the 2024 Experience 
Study.  Changes were adopted by the 2024 FRS Actuarial Assumption Conference during its 
meetings in October 2024.  

 The coverage election assumptions were updated to reflect the recent and anticipated future 
experience of HIS program participants.  Changes were adopted by the 2024 FRS Actuarial 
Assumption Conference during its October 2024 meeting.   

 The discount rate was modified to reflect the change in the value of the municipal bond index 
between GASB measurement dates.  
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA  
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS AND STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 

Assistance 
Listing #/ Contract Award Reported in
CSFA # Number Amount Prior Years Revenue Expenditures

GRANTOR/PROGRAM TITLE
Federal Awards

US Department of Transportation - Federal Aviation Administration
Airport Improvement Program** 20.106 3-12-0099-017-2024 600,000$            -$                   600,000$            600,000$            
Airport Improvement Program** 20.106 3-12-0099-019-2025 615,790              -                      246,000              246,000              

Total US DOT Federal Aviation Administration 1,215,790           -                      846,000              846,000              

Total federal awards 1,215,790$        -$                   846,000$            846,000$            

State F inancial Assistance
Florida Department of Environmental Protection

FRDAP - North Oxford Street Park Phase II 37.017 A21009 200,000$            -$                   4,750$                 4,750$                 
Statewide Water Quality Restoration Project** 37.039 LP0302 609,000              12,000              597,000              597,000              

Total Florida Department of Envronmental Protection 809,000              12,000              601,750              601,750              

Florida Department of Transportation
Aviation Grant Program - Land purchase 55.004 G2791 464,000              32,060              60,452                 60,452                 
Aviation Grant Program - Envrionmental assessment 55.004 G1Z49 55,000                 -                      13,750                 13,750                 
Aviation Grant Program - New box hangar 55.004 G2B73 391,000              -                      44,576                 44,576                 
Aviation Grant Program - Obstruction removal 55.004 G2W38 300,000              -                      9,391                    9,391                    
Aviation Grant Program - Land purchase 55.004 G2T24 116,444              -                      94,000                 94,000                 

Total Florida Department of Transportation 1,326,444           32,060              222,169              222,169              

Executive Office of the Governor
Local Emergency Management and Mitigation Intiiatives - 

Community Center/Hurricane Shelter 31.064 F0122 5,890,200           -                      2,607                    2,607                    

Total state financial assistance 8,025,644           44,060              826,526              826,526              
Total federal awards and state financial assistance 9,241,434$        44,060$           1,672,526$        1,672,526$        

**Selected as a major project/program for single audit testing
See notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and State Financial Assistance
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS  

AND STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024 

 
 
NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The accounting policies and presentation of the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and 
State Financial Assistance of the Town of Hilliard, Florida (the “Town”) have been designed to 
conform to generally accepted accounting principles as applicable to governmental units, including 
the reporting and compliance requirements of the Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-
Profit Organizations and Office of Management and Budget Uniform Guidance.   
 
A. Reporting Entity 
 
This reporting entity consists of the Town, and each of its component units.  The Town includes a 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and State Financial Assistance in the Compliance 
Section for the purpose of additional analysis. 
 
B. Basis of Accounting 
 
Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures or expenses are recognized in the 
accounts and reported in the financial statements.  Basis of accounting relates to the timing of the 
measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus. 
 
Expenditures reported on the schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting.  Such 
expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein 
certain types of expenditures are not allowed or are limited as to reimbursement.  
 
C. Grant Awards 
 
As required by OMB Uniform Guidance, federal grant awards drawn and expended during the year 
are included in the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and State Financial Assistance. 
 
NOTE 2.  INDIRECT COST RATE  
 
The Town of Hilliard did not elect to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate.  

 

NOTE 3.  SUBRECIPIENTS 
 
The Town of Hilliard did not pass any of the State or Federal  funding received through to 
subrecipients.  
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           Powell and Jones CPA 
    1359 S.W. Main Blvd. 

    Lake City, FL 32025 
    Phone  386.755.4200 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 

COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 

April 2, 2025 
 
To the Town Council  
Town of Hilliard, Florida 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the 
governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining 
fund information of the Town of Hilliard, Florida (the Town) as of and for the year ended September 
30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town’s 
basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated April 2, 2025. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Town’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s 
internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal 
control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and 
corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify 
any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  We did identify a deficiency that we consider 
to be significant, which is identified in the Statement of Findings and Questioned Costs as item 2024-
1, which we consider to be a significant deficiency.    
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Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion 
on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other 
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

Powell and Jones CPA 
Lake City, Florida 
April 2, 2025 
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           Powell and Jones CPA     
    1359 S.W. Main Blvd. 

    Lake City, FL 32025 
    Phone  386.755.4200 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON 
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

 
 
April 2, 2025 
 
To the Town Council  
Town of Hilliard, Florida 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
We have audited Town of Hilliard, Florida’s (the Town) compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a 
direct and material effect on each of the Town’s major federal programs for the year ended 
September 30, 2024. The Town’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor's 
results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 
 
In our opinion, the Town complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major 
federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2024. 
 
Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit 
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Our 
responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.  
 
We are required to be independent of the Town and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on 
compliance for each major federal program.  Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the 
Town’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.  
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, 
and grants applicable to its federal programs. 
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Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the 
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements 
applicable to the Town’s federal programs.   

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on the Town’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the 
Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting 
material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material 
if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the Town’s compliance with 
the requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government 
Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the Town’s compliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of the Town’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and 
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal control 
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material 
weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 
 
Report on Internal Control over Compliance  
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance 
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requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. 
A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify 
all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material 
weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements 
of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
Powell & Jones CPA 
Lake City, Florida 
April 2, 2025 
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           Powell and Jones CPA     
    1359 S.W. Main Blvd. 

    Lake City, FL 32025 
    Phone  386.755.4200 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S  REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR  STATE PROJECT AND ON 
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE IN ACCORDANCE WITH  CHAPTER 10.550, RULES 

OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL, OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL 
 
 

April 2, 2025 
 
To the Town Council  
Town of Hilliard, Florida 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major State Project 
 
Opinion on Each Major State Project 
 
We have audited Town of Hilliard, Florida’s (the Town) compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements in the State of Florida, Department of Financial Services State Projects Compliance 
and Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the Town’s major state 
projects for the year ended September 30, 2024.  The Town’s major state projects are identified in 
the summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned 
costs. 
 
In our opinion, the Town complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major state 
projects for the year ended September 30, 2024. 
 
Basis for Opinion on Each Major State Project 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and Chapter 10.550, 
Rules of the State of Florida, Office of the Auditor General.  Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our 
report.  
 
We are required to be independent of the Town and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on 
compliance for each major state project.  Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the 
Town’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.  
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, 
and grants applicable to its state projects. 
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Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the 
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements 
applicable to the Town’s state projects.   
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on the Town’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the 
State of Florida, Office of the Auditor General will always detect material noncompliance when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the 
report on compliance about the Town’s compliance with the requirements of each major state project 
as a whole. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the 
State of Florida, Office of the Auditor General, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the Town’s compliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of the Town’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and 
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the 
State of Florida, Office of the Auditor General, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such 
opinion is expressed. 
 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material 
weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 
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Report on Internal Control over Compliance  
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a state project will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state 
project that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify 
all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material 
weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 
 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
 
Pursuant to Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, this report is a public record, and its distribution is not 
limited.  Auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America require us to indicate 
that this report is intended solely for the information and use of the Town’s management, State 
awarding agencies and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by 
anyone other than these specified parties. 

 
Powell & Jones CPA 
Lake City, Florida 
April 2, 2025 
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA  
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 

Section I.   Summary of  Auditor' s Results

Financial Statements
Type of auditor's report issued: Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:
● Material weakness identified None reported
● Significant deficiencies identified that are not
    considered to be material weaknesses Yes

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted None reported

Federal  Awards Programs

Internal control over major programs:

● Material weakness identified None reported
● Significant deficiencies identified None reported

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance
  for major programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
  reported in accordance with 2CFR 200.516(a) None reported

Identification of major programs:

Assistance Listing Number Name of Program 

20.106 Airport Improvement Program

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
  Type A and Type B programs: $750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? No
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA  
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 

State Financial  Assistance

Internal control over major projects:

● Material weakness identified? No
● Reportable condition identified, not
    considered to be material weaknesses? None reported

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance 
    for major projects Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
    reported in accordance with Rule 10.557 None reported
     Rules of the Auditor General ?

CSFA Number Name of Program 

37.039 Statewide Water Quality Restoration Project

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
  Type A and Type B programs: $300,000
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA  
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 

SECTION 2.  FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Findings for Material Weaknesses 
 
None reported in the current year. 
 
Findings for Significant Deficiencies 
 
Significant Deficiency 2024-1: Financial Statement Preparation 
 
A system of internal control over financial reporting includes controls over financial statement 
preparation, including footnote disclosures. While your auditor can assist with the preparation of your 
financial statements and related footnotes, the financial statements are the responsibility of 
management. A deficiency in internal control exists when the Town does not have the expertise 
necessary to prevent, detect, and correct misstatements  A deficiency in internal control exists in 
instances where the Town is not capable of drafting the financial statements and all required 
footnote disclosures in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Possessing 
suitable skill, knowledge or experience to oversee service an auditor provides in assisting with 
financial statement presentation requires a lower level of technical knowledge than the competence 
required to prepare the financial statements and disclosures.  
 
The response provided by management was not subjected to auditing procedures in the audit, and 
therefore, we express no opinion on it.  
 
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSE 

 
We agree with this finding. We are a very small government and have used our available resources 
to employ a competent bookkeeper who maintains excellent accounting records and provides 
accurate monthly financial reports prepared generally on the cash basis. We likewise have 
confidence in our audit firm to utilize these records and prepare annual financial statements in the 
required formats and with all associated note disclosures. Both staff and the Town Council review 
the annual financial reports and have the opportunity to ask the auditor any questions regarding the 
report prior to its formal presentation. The report is formally presented by the auditor at a scheduled 
meeting of the Town Council. 
 
At this time, we do not believe it would be a justifiable expense to employ another accountant on 
either a part-time or full-time basis to prepare the annual financial statements. We thus accept this 
required disclosure finding and will continue to monitor this situation in the future. 
 
The response provided by management was not subjected to auditing procedures in the audit, and 
therefore, we express no opinion on it.  
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TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA  
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 
SECTION 3. FEDERAL AWARD AND STATE PROGRAM FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
 
Findings for Material Weaknesses 
 
None reported in the current year. 
 
Findings for Significant Deficiencies 
 
None reported in the current year. 

 
SECTION 4.  SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 
 
Significant Deficiency 2009-1:  Financial Statement Preparation  (Excess of third preceding year) 
 
A system of internal control over financial reporting includes controls over financial statement 
preparation, including footnote disclosures. While your auditor can assist with the preparation of your 
financial statements and related footnotes, the financial statements are the responsibility of 
management. A deficiency in internal control exists when the Town does not have the expertise 
necessary to prevent, detect, and correct misstatements  A deficiency in internal control exists in 
instances where the Town is not capable of drafting the financial statements and all required 
footnote disclosures in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Possessing 
suitable skill, knowledge or experience to oversee service an auditor provides in assisting with 
financial statement presentation requires a lower level of technical knowledge than the competence 
required to prepare the financial statements and disclosures. 
 
The circumstances surrounding this finding are substantially the same, and this finding has been 
continued as finding 2024-1. 
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           Powell and Jones CPA     
    1359 S.W. Main Blvd. 

    Lake City, FL 32025 
    Phone 386.755.4200 

MANAGEMENT LETTER 
 
To the Town Council 
Town of Hilliard, Florida 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the Town of Hilliard, Florida (the Town), for the year 
ended September 30, 2024, and have issued our report thereon dated April 2, 2025 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America; the standards applicable to the financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; the audit requirements of Title 2 
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, 
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance); and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the 
Auditor General.  
 
Other Reporting Requirements 
 
We have issued our Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and 
on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards; Independent Auditor’s Reports on Compliance for 
Each Major Federal Program and State Project and Report on Internal Control Over Compliance; 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs; and Independent Accountant’s Report on an 
examination conducted in accordance with AICPA Professional Standards, AT-C Section 315, 
regarding compliance requirements in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor 
General.  Disclosures in those reports and schedule, which are dated April 2, 2025, should be 
considered in conjunction with this management letter. 
 
Prior Audit Findings 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not 
corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the preceding 
financial audit report.  The following finding was included in the preceding reports: 
 

 
 
  

Current Year 
Finding No. 

2022-23 FY
Finding No. 

2021-22 FY
Finding No. 

2024-1 2009-1 2009-1

Tabulation of Uncorrected Audit Findings
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AUDITOR GENERAL COMPLIANCE MATTERS 
 
Official Title and Legal Authority – Section 10.554(1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that 
the name or official title and legal authority for the primary government and each component unit of 
the reporting entity be disclosed in this management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.  This information has been disclosed in Note 1 of the financial statements.  
 
Financial Condition and Management – Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.a. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor 
General, require us to apply appropriate procedures and communicate the results of our 
determination as to whether or not the Town met one or more of the conditions described in Section 
218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and to identify the specific conditions met.  In connection with our 
audit, we determined that the Town did not meet any of the conditions described in Section 
218.503(1), Florida Statutes.  
 
Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.b. and 10.556(8), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied 
financial condition assessment procedures for the Town.  It is management’s responsibility to 
monitor the Town’s financial condition, and our financial condition assessment was based in part on 
the representations made by management and review of financial information provided by the same.  
 
Additionally, section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we communicate any 
recommendations to improve financial management.  Below are significant results of our review as 
well as any recommendations.  
 
Deteriorating Financial Conditions – From our audit procedures in the current and prior years, we 
found the following conditions which together comprised “deteriorating financial conditions” as 
defined by Chapter 10.550 Rules of the Auditor General:   
 

The Enterprise Fund showed the following trends:
9/30/2024 9/30/2023 9/30/2022 9/30/2021 9/30/2020 9/30/2019

Operating Income/(Loss) (452,925)$      (621,090)$      (689,253)$      (463,294)$      (384,628)$      (385,158)$      

Unrestricted Net Position 1,463,883      1,544,978      40,983            810,021          957,090          1,050,047      

Unrestricted Cash Balance 1,496,611      2,140,100      816,894          1,151,084      1,269,934      1,388,637      

Cash Flow (567,848)$      1,438,590$    (295,868)$      (104,288)$      (78,648)$        44,562$          
 

 
In the current year, the Enterprise Fund showed a decrease in Unrestricted Net Position of $81,095.  
Contributing factors were increased spending on capital projects, which tied up more of the liquid 
assets and reduced the unrestricted net position.  This reduction was netted against the overall 
increase in net position that was driven by grant awards and incoming transfers from other funds.      
 
To correct these deteriorating financial conditions, we recommend that the Town continue to  
implement strict measures during the budget cycle to ensure that revenues are sufficient to fund 
expenditures and replenish the needed fiscal reserves in the Enterprise Fund.  Additionally, we would 
recommend that beyond what the Town already does with MCI to assess rates, that it do what is 
necessary to bring billing rates in line with amounts that will provide sufficient revenue to meet the 
annual costs of providing utility services to its constituency.   
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Property Assessed Clean Energy Programs (PACE) 
 
As required by Section 10.554(1)(i)6.a., Rules of the Auditor General, the Town did not have a 
property assessed clean energy (PACE) program that finances qualifying improvements authorized 
pursuant to Section 163.081 or Section 163.082, Florida Statutes, operated within the Town’s 
geographical boundaries during the fiscal year under audit.  
 
Additional Matters – Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires us to 
communicate noncompliance with provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have 
occurred, or are likely to have occurred, that have an effect on the financial statements that is less 
than material but warrants the attention of those charged with governance.  In connection with our 
audit, we did not note any such findings.  
  
Rural Economic and Community Redevelopment Requirements – We are providing the following 
information relative to our examination of the financial statements of the Town, for the year ended 
September 30, 2024, as provided in the audit requirements for the USDA-Rural Development 
borrowers. 
 
1.  Generally accepted auditing procedures were performed in this audit.  
2.  Internal control was evaluated and discussed in the prior sections of this audit report.  
3.  Accounting records and physical control over assets were adequate. 
4. The accounting records of the Town have been adjusted to agree with the audited financial 

statements. 
5. The Town’s funds are in institutions insured by the Federal government and are authorized 

depositories of Florida public funds. 
6.  A summary of the Town’s insurance coverage is shown in the annual report to the USDA-Rural 

Development. 
7.  The Town is exempt from Federal Income Tax. 
8. We found nothing to indicate that financial compliance with the loan agreements had not 

occurred. 
 
Purpose of This Letter 
Our Management Letter is intended solely for the information of and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and Florida House of Representatives, the Florida Auditor 
General, Federal and other granting agencies, the Town’s Council and applicable management, and 
is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.   

 
Powell and Jones CPA 
Lake City, Florida 
April 2, 2025 
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           Powell and Jones CPA     
    1359 S.W. Main Blvd. 

    Lake City, FL 32025 
    Phone 386.755.4200 

 
 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT 
To the Town Council 
Town of Hilliard, Florida 
 
We have examined the Town of Hilliard, Florida’s (the Town’s)  compliance with Section 218.415, 
Florida Statutes, regarding the investment of public funds during the year ended September 30, 
2024.  Management is responsible for the Town’s compliance with those requirements.  Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Town’s compliance based on our examination. 
 
Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, included examining, on a test 
basis, evidence about the Town’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.  We believe that our examination 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  Our examination does not provide a legal determination 
on the Town’s compliance with specified requirements. 
 
In our opinion, the Town complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned requirements 
for the year ended September 30, 2024. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Town and the Auditor General, State 
of Florida, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 

 
Powell and Jones CPA 
Lake City, Florida 
April 2, 2025 
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           Powell and Jones CPA     
    1359 S.W. Main Blvd. 

    Lake City, FL 32025 
    Phone 386.755.4200 

 
Communication with Those Charged with Governance 

 
To the Town Council  
Town of Hilliard, Florida 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the Town of Hilliard, Florida (the Town) for the year 
ended September 30, 2024.  Professional standards require that we provide you with information 
about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards and  Government Auditing 
Standards, as well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit.  
Professional standards also require that we communicate to you the following information related 
to our audit. 
 
Significant Audit Findings 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies.  The 
significant accounting policies used by the Town are described in Note 1 to the financial statements.   
We noted no transactions entered into by the governmental unit during the year for which there is a 
lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.   
 
All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period. 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and 
are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and 
assumptions about future events.  Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because 
of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events 
affecting them may differ significantly from those expected.  There are no sensitive estimates 
affecting the Town’s financial statements. 
 
Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to 
financial statement users.  There are no sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements. 
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing 
our audit. 
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified 
during the audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management.  There were no such misstatements identified during our audit.  
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Disagreements with Management 
 
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a 
financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that 
could be significant to the financial statements or the auditor’s report.  We are pleased to report that 
no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 
 
Management Representations 
 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated April 2, 2025 
 
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations.  If a consultation 
involves application of an accounting principle to the governmental unit’s financial statements or a 
determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our 
professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the 
consultant has all the relevant facts.  To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other 
accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 
 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the governmental unit’s 
auditors.  However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship 
and our responses were not a condition to our retention. 
 
Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements 
 
With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, we made 
certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the 
information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior 
period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial 
statements.  We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying 
accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or the financial statements themselves. 
 
This information is intended solely for the use of the Town Council management of the Town and is 
not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
Very truly yours, 

 
Powell and Jones CPA 
Lake City, Florida 
April 20, 2025 
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SYSTEM OEVELOPMENT CHARGE .IMPACT FEES AFFIDAVIT

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, personally appeared Lisa Purvis, Town
Clerk for the Town of Hilliard, who being duly sworn, deposes and says on oath that:

I am the Chief Financial Officer of the Town of Hilliard which is a
municipal corporation of the State of Florida.

The governing body of the Town of Hilliard adopted Ordinance No. 2005-
02 on the 3'd day of March 2005; implementing an impact fee by

establishing water and sewer system development charges, to provide
new definitions; to establish a formula for assessing the system
development charges, to provide for time of payment; to provide for use

of proceeds; to provide for annual review; to provide for severability;
repeal of ordinances in conflict and establish an effective date.

The Town of Hilliard has complied and, as of the date of this Affidavit,

remains in compliance with Section 163.31801' Florida Statutes.

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NAUGHT

Lisa Purvis, illiard Town Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF NASSAU

1

2

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED before me ttris Qf aav ot fe-Wt o,Y,, M

::i., KuSERtycoRBEn

.j: lrYco rAS$Oti I HH SSa@

It: EXPIRES: tueutr A, XrA NOTARY PU
Print Name

Personally known z/ o, produced identification

Type of identification Produced

My Commission ExPires

6,1>olao)t

J.
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AGENDA ITEM REPORT 

TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 

  

TO: Town Council Regular Meeting                            Meeting Date: May 15, 2025 

FROM: Lee Anne Wollitz- Land Use Administrator 

SUBJECT: Town Council to consider and provide feedback to the Nassau Planning 
Department as they share the most recent draft of Nassau County Vision 2050.   

  

BACKGROUND:     

Nassau County Planning Department has been working to update the Nassau County Vision 
Plan 2050. 
The Town Council has provided feedback on several occasions to assist in this matter. 
Nassau Planning is here to share the latest draft of the plan and receive feedback. 
Please follow the link to view the draft plan: 

https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/1fa6fd7474d64791afcec85f4bc2c532?header 

 

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

None 

 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Town Council to consider and provide feedback to the Nassau Planning Department as they 
share the most recent draft of Nassau County Vision 2050. 
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AGENDA ITEM REPORT 

TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 

  

TO: Town Council Regular Meeting                            Meeting Date: May 15, 2025 

FROM: Cory Hobbs – Interim Public Works Director 

SUBJECT: Town Council approval of the Capital Budget Expenditure for Electrical Upgrades 
to the Wetland Influent Control Panel Box, with PSI Technologies and Osprey I & E 
Inc., in the amount of $15,928.00. 

  

BACKGROUND:  
 
Three quotes were received for the Control Panel box: 

PSI Technologies Inc. – $11,428.00 
Fortiline Waterworks – $12,659.00 
Ferguson Waterworks – $12,716.00 

Additionally, one quote was received for the installation of the Control Panel box: 

Osprey I & E Incorporated – $4,500.00 

PSI Technologies Inc., together with Osprey I & E Incorporated, submitted the lowest overall 
quotes for the electrical upgrades to the Wetland Influent Control Panel Box for the Town. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

$15,928.00 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Town Council approval of the Capital Budget Expenditure for Electrical Upgrades to the Wetland 
Influent Control Panel Box, with PSI Technologies and Osprey I & E Inc., in the amount of 
$15,928.00.  
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Osprey I & E lncorporatsd
PO Box 193

Hilliard, FL

+7593432
Ospreybcr@gmail.com

JOB NAME
Wetland panel change out quote

OTY RATE

4,500.00

Estimate

Al\ilOUNT

4,500.00

$4,500.00

ADDRESS

Town of Hilliard

ESTIMATE #

2025-'ts
DATE

04/29t2025

PO AND/OR RMA #
Jody Wildes

DESCRIPTION

Servic€s
Scope of work remove existing wetland panel
and replace with customer supplied new
control panel using existing wiring and conduit
repair conduit as needed for new install seal
new panel with duct seal at end of pipe for
corrosion prevention no new wiring back to
plant operation included

Confirm correct rotation to pumps

ll any communication wiring or programming
needed lor interlace with plant operation main
Irame this will need linal termination or
programming by others and is not included in
this scope ot work

JOB NUMBER
13

DATE

Accepted By

1

TOTAL

Accepted Date
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e PSlTechnologies lnc
3520 lnvestment Lane Unit f3
Riviera Beach, Florida 33404

Phone: 904-544-2916 Email: kevin@psi-techinc.com

Quotation

p.s!

Company:
Contact:
Street:
CSZ:

Phone:

Email:

TOWN OF HILLIARD

loDt
Dale:4/23/25
Quote#: KY10824

Quote Valid: 30 DAYS

Terms: NET 30
Shipping: INCLUDED

Prepa red By: KEVIN YOUNG

HILLIARD , FL

Quantity Description Unit Price Total Price
1 SS CONTROL PANEL, 36X30X12 SS ENCLOSURE, 480V, 2OHP , 24 FLA, s11,428.00 s11,428.00

TOAMP MCB,40AMP PUMP BREAKERS, COOLING FAN W T STAT,

PUMP RUN LIGHTS, HW LIGHI TIME METERS & HOA SWITCHES ALL

MOUNTED ON EXT€RIOR DOOR

'Quolity Products, Professionolly Applied, ExceptiondlService dnd support'

I

I I

I

I
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QUOTE

FORTILINE (.)WATERWORKS

EA

AI,I, STOCK DELIVI]RIES T I II PPI\ CIIARCES
All PVC and tIDPE materinl is quoled for shipment within 7 days ofquotcAid darc. All orhcr material is quorcd for shipment within l0 days ofquorcAid dare

allother
Enr By CB1 L2/r2/24 7:08:11

203153 FORTILINE JACKSONVILLE
CUSTOMER NO

6583431
AUOTE NO

4/23/2s
QUOTE DATE

1

ALL BIDDERS - JACKSONVILLE
6982 HIGHWAY AVE.
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32254

F.FQ L2/71,/24 CONTROL PANEL

50 1

4AOV, 20 HP, 24TIJA, COOLING FAN
T STAT
PIIMP RI'N LIGHTS, EW LIGHT
TIME METERS & HOA SWITCHES ALL
MOI'II'IED ON EXTERIOR DOOR

t-2,659.0000

Subtotal:
Tax :

Bid Total:

L2,659 .A0

L2,659-00
-4i!*4

aa*3#a

for C and ect to rcview bascd on currenr marketc

QUOTING BRANCH PAGE

CUSTOMER PROJECT INFORMATION

LINE QTY UOM DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE

NEMA 4X SS CONTROL PANEL
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#FERGUSON' FERGUSON WATERWORKSJAX #149

9692 FLORIDA MINING BLVD W
BUILOING #1OO

JACKSONVILLE, FL 32257

Phone: 904-268-2551

Faxi 904-268-2053

Deliver To:
From: Dewayne Lynn Cader

dewayne.carver@ferguson.com
Comments

WATERWORKS

11:19 42 JAN 02 2025 Page 1 of '1

FEL-JACKSONVILLE \ AiV +149
Price Quotation

Phone: 904-268-2551

Fax; 904-268-2053

Cust Phone
Terms: NET ,1OTH PROX

Customer: BIDDINGcoNTRAcToR-JAX
FOR BIDDING PURPOSES ONLY

JACKSONVILLE. FL 32257

Cust PO#

Item Desc ption

BIDDING CONTRACTOR-JAX
FOR BIDDING PURPOSES ONLY

JACKSONVILLE. FL 32257

Ship To

JOb NAME: NEIV]A 4X SS PANEL

Quantity Net Price UM Total

$127'16.00
{8ffit-

$0.00
$r€€6{€6

Quoled prices are based upon receipt of the total quantity for immediate shipment (48 hou.s). SHIPMENTS BEYOND 48 HOURS SHALL BE
AT THE PRICE IN EFFECT AT TIME OF SHIPI/ENT UNLESS NOIED OTHERWSE, QUOTES FOR PRODUCTS SHIPPED FOR RESALE
ARE NOT FIRM UNLESS NOTED OTHERWSE,

EqJ.]TRACTOR CUSTOMERS: IF YOU HAVE DBE/I\4BEA&BE/4,/BE/SDVBE/SBE GOOD FAITH EFFORTS DIVERSIry GOAL9 REQUIREMENTS oN A
EEQEEAL- S]A]E, LSCJL GqVERNIUENT, PRIVATE SECIOR PRoJFCT, PLEASE coNTAcI YoUR BRANCH SALES RLPRESE-NATIV- - -
IMMEOIAIELY PRIOR TO RECEIVING A OUOTE/ORDER

Seller not responsible for delays, lack of producl or increase of pricing due lo causes beyond our control, and/or based upon
Local, State and Federal laws governing type of products lhat can be sold or put inlo commerce. This Quote is offered contingent upon lhe
Buyer's acceptance of Seller's terms and conditions, which are incoeoraled by reference and found eilher following this document, or
on the web at httpsj/u vw.ferguson.convconlenvwebsite-into/terms,ot-sale
Govl Buyers: All ilems are open market unless noled otheMjse

LEAD LAW WARNING. ll rs rlleqal to install products thal are not "lead hee' in accordance wlh US Federal or other aDolicable law in oolable water
syslems anlicjpated for human aonsumptiori Products wth 'NP rn lhe description are NOT lead free and can only be irislalled in non-bolabte
applicalions guyer is solely responsibld for product selection

NEMA 4X SS CONTROL PANEL
480V, 20 HP, 24 FLA.
COOLING FAN W/T STAT
PUIUP RUN LIGHTS. HW LIGHT,
TIME METERS & HOA SWTCHES
ALL IUOUNTED ON EXTERIOR
DOOR

12716.04

HOW ARE WE DOING? WE WANT YOUR FEEDBACK!
Scan the QR code or use the link below to

complete a survey about your bids:
https://survey.medallia.com/?bidsorder&fc=1 49&on=37074

Erilt'.,E
Effiffil=aj:r'ia}
EFF.,CiH

Bid No: 8630311
Bid Date: 4t22t25
Quoted By: DLC

Net Total:
Tax:

Freight:
Total:
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AGENDA ITEM REPORT 

TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 

  

TO: Town Council Regular Meeting                            Meeting Date: May 15, 2025 

FROM: Lisa Purvis, MMC – Town Clerk 

SUBJECT: Town Council to consider a request for donation from the Marine Corp League for 
the purchase of toys to be distributed at the Northeast Florida Fairgrounds Toys for 
Tots giveaway.   

  

BACKGROUND:     

See attached email. 

 

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

$1,000.00. 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Town Council approval of donation for the Toys for Tots to be distributed by the Marine Corp 
League at the Northeast Florida Fairgrounds. 
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1

Lisa Purvis

From: Bobby Franklin <franklinbobby902@gmail.com>

Sent: Thursday, May 1, 2025 10:46 AM

To: Lisa Purvis

Subject: Toys for Tots donation request

Each year the Marine Corp League spearheads the collection and purchase of toys for children . 

With the costs of purchasing toys to cover what our collection efforts don not raise it is more difficult to 

raise the necessary funds especially now with the tariffs being in place we are seeing increases in these 

costs. 

Our 401C number is EIN20-3021444. 

Last year we gave out toys to over 1200 children in Nassau County and the west side of Nassau 

Nounty.  We distribute these at the fairgrounds each year. 

I would like the council to consider approval of $1,000.00 for this cause.  If you feel you would like to 

donate more it would greatly be recognized. 

Thank you for your consideration 

Bobby Franklin 

Member Marine Corp League 

Everett T Pope Detachment 

P.O. Box 15668 

Fernandina Beach, Fl. 32035-3112 

 

**When responding to email, please send all emails to franklinproperties@winstream.net** 

 

Franklin Properties 

franklinproperties@windstream.net 

904-845-7576 (Hilliard office) 

912-496-1011 (Folkston office) 

 You don't often get email from franklinbobby902@gmail.com. Learn why this is important   
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TOWN OF HILLIARD

DONATION REQUESTS

BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET 

ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL PROPOSED ACTUAL TO DATE

2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024 2024/2025 2024/2025

Barnabas Center (Crisis Center) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Community's In School (Tutoring Program) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Episcopal Children's Services $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

FL-955 AFJROTC GROUP (West Nassau High School) $0 $0 $250 $0 $0  

Nassau Chamber (Teacher Appreciation Breakfast) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Hilliard Elementary School $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Hilliard High School $0 $750 $250 $0 $250 2/24/2025

Hilliard Quarterback Club (Pride of Hilliard Program) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Keep Nassau Beautiful (Town Clean Up) $0 $2,000 $2,000 $0 $2,000 11/7/2024

Lyons Club Golf Tournament (Fundraiser) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Micah's Place (Domestic Violence Woman's Shelter) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Nassau County Economic Development Board $0 $0 $1,000 $0 $0  

Neil Hampton Golf Tournament (Scholarship) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Relay for Life (Corporate Sponsor & Team Sponsor) $250 $0 $0 $0 $0

Second 2 None Riders Lakeland, GA (Biker's Fest for Kids) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Take Stock in Children (Scholarship Program) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Westside Optimist Club $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Vocational Scholarship Foundation $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Hilliard School 100th Celebration $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Nassau Ferst Foundation $360 $360 $360 $0 $360 11/7/2024

American Legion Post 401 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Misc Funds $0 $0 $0 $0 $0  

001-01-56482     TOTAL $610 $3,110 $3,860 $5,000 $2,610

CULTURE & RECREATION
Friends of the Library (Hilliard Branch Library) $8,000 $8,000 $8,000 $0 $8,000 11/21/2024

001-04-56482     TOTAL $8,000 $8,000 $8,000 $8,000 $8,000

FUND TOTAL $8,610 $11,110 $11,860 $13,000 $10,610

PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT
Nassau County Council on Aging (Water & Sewer Bill Assistance) $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 $0 $10,000 12/19/2024

401-06-56482     FUND TOTAL $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 $10,000

GENERAL
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AGENDA ITEM REPORT 

TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 

  

TO: Town Council Regular Meeting                            Meeting Date: May 15, 2025 

FROM: Lee Anne Wollitz – Land Use Administrator 

SUBJECT: Town Council to accept the resignation letter from Charles Reed, of the Planning & 
Zoning Board effective July 1, 2025, and to instruct the Town Clerk to initiate the 
process for a new appointment. 

  

BACKGROUND:     

On May 8, 2025, the Town received the resignation letter of Charles Reed from the Planning & 
Zoning Board. Mr. Reed has been a member of the Board since November 2009. He intends to 
continue serving through the conclusion of the Planning & Zoning Board meeting on July 1, 
2025, to provide the Council sufficient time to identify and appoint a qualified replacement. 

 

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

None 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Town Council to accept the resignation letter of Charles Reed, of the Planning & Zoning Board 
effective July 1, 2025, and to instruct the Town Clerk to initiate the process for a new 
appointment. 
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AGENDA ITEM REPORT 

TOWN OF HILLIARD, FLORIDA 

  

TO: Town Council Regular Meeting                            Meeting Date:  May 15, 2025 

FROM: Lisa Purvis, MMC – Town Clerk 

SUBJECT: Town Council to discuss Mr. Timothy Fisk’s public records request. 
  

BACKGROUND:     

At the May 1, 2025, Regular Meeting, the Town Council voted to place the discussion of Mr. 
Fisk’s current public records requests, as well as the requests made during the meeting, on the 
agenda. 

Attached, you will find Mr. Fisk’s public records requests. 

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

None.  

 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Town Council to discuss Mr. Timothy Fisk’s public records request. 
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EMAIL 
DATE

EMAIL 
TO

EMAIL 
FROM INFORMATION

3/14/2025 TOH FISK Dropped off 4 page PRR and $50 cash towards cost. 
3/14/2025 ATTNY CLERK Forwarded 4 page PRR received for legal review.
3/17/2025 FISK CLERK Acknowledge reciept of extensive PRR and advised working on deposit estimate.

3/17/2025 CLERK ATTNY Advised that based on the 4 page PRR cost will exceed $50. Plus Personnel Files 
have certain exemptions.

3/17/2025 ATTNY CLERK Asked when does PRR become harrassement and that I did not feel safe with 
FISK and his daughter inside the office to video and photograph documents.

3/19/2025 CLERK FISK Cancelled oral portion of PRR from 3/14 then told me that it was not extensive 
and should not take long to fill and how to do it.

3/19/2025 FISK CLERK Filled 3/14/2025 page 4 of PRR in answering 3/19 email No agreement with 
NCSD and Financial Statements on website and where.

3/19/2025 ATTNY CLERK Forwarded FISK 3/19 email to ATTNY to keep him in loop.
3/19/2025 ATTNY CLERK Forwarded my response to fill page 4 PRR from FISK to keep ATTNY in loop.
3/25/2025 TOH FISK Dropped off 2 page PRR regarding getting items added to the Agenda.
3/25/2025 ATTNY CLERK Forwarded 2 page PRR received for legal review. Advised ATTNY that FISK said he 

was coming back Thursday for answer on how to get items added to the Agenda. 
I explained the process and asked if I could send to FISK.

3/25/2025 CLERK ATTNY Advised my response to FISK was good regarding the process fro getting items 
on the Agenda.

3/26/2025 FISK CLERK Advised regarding 3/25/2025 PRR on getting items added to the Agenda.
4/3/2025 ATTNY CLERK Prior to Town Council Meeting advised that I had been pulling items together to 

fill FISK 3/14/2025 and 3/25/2025 PRR. Asked ATTNY if running a report was 
considered creating a public record and that I had already used up over the $50 
cash deposit from 3/14/2025, just gathering items to come up with cost 
estimate.

4/3/2025 TOH FISK At Town Council Meeting FISK filled out Agenda Item Request for 
Additions?Deletions from the Agenda. When Item came up FISK asked to add 
three items to the agenda from his 3/25/2025 PRR. 1st was delt with during 
meeting, 2nd was added to next agenda and 3rd was to be placed on the 
4/10/2025, monthly Workshop Agenda.

4/3/2025 CLERK ATTNY Following Town Council Meeting ATTNY advised that we would work on next 
week.

4/3/2025 ATTNY CLERK CLERK responded OK. 
4/4/2025 ATTNY CLERK Forward both 3/14/2025 and 3/25/2025 PRR and deposit cost estimates for both 

PRR following working late to prepare both deposit cost estimates.
4/7/2025 CLERK ATTNY Agreed with 3/14/2025 and 3/25/2025 deposit cost estimates and questioned 

the deduction of .5 from staff time as per Town PRR Policy.
4/7/2025 ATTNY CLERK Forwarded revised deposit cost estimates showing deduction of .5 and math to 

get to total deposit cost estimates.
4/8/2025 FISK CLERK Sent both 3/14/2025 and 3/25/2025 PRR deposit cost estimates to FISK and 

advised that the $50 cash deposit he made 3/14/2025 can be used towards 
these requests.
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NCSD TIME - 2. $100.00

STAFF TIME - 3.5 - .50 = 3. $79.17

ATTNY TIME - 3. $495.00

TOTAL PRR ESTIMATE $674.17

TOH031425-01 RESPONDED BY EMAIL 3/17/2025

A. INSPECT PERSONNEL FILES

ALICIA HEAD CONSULTING WITH ATTNY ON WHAT WILL 

NEED TO BE REDACTED PRIOR TO 

INSPECTION

LISA PURVIS CONSULTING WITH ATTNY ON WHAT WILL 

NEED TO BE REDACTED PRIOR TO 

INSPECTION

B. INSPECT PERSONNEL FILES

JOE MICHAELS, P&R DIRECTOR CONSULTING WITH ATTNY ON WHAT WILL 

NEED TO BE REDACTED PRIOR TO 

INSPECTION

TOH031425-02

PLAYGOUND SAFETY INSPECTIONS VISUAL INSPECTION ONLY

ADA COMPLIANT AT TOWN HALL PARK RESTROOM BUILDING

PARKING SPACE & PATH TO RESTROOM 

BUILDING

PATHS BETWEEN PAVILION AND 

RESTROOM

ADA COMPLIANT AT REC PARK RESTROOM BUILDING 

 

PARKING SPACE & PATH TO RESTROOM 

BUILDING

PATHS BETWEEN PAVILION, ANNEX, 

SWIMMING POOL AND RESTROOM.

SWIMMING POOL FACILITY

PICNIC AREA

SWING AT SWING SET

NEED TO REMOVE SHARED USE PATH NA

ORIGINAL 4' WIDE CONCRETE PATH $18,000.00

REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT OF 6' 

WIDE CONCRETE PATH (NC MUNICIPAL 

GRANT)

$16,000.00

03/14/2025 - PRR - TIMOTHY FISK
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03/14/2025 - PRR - TIMOTHY FISK

TOH031425-03

CHART OF ACCOUTS FOR AP 22 PAGES CAN NOT BE SERATED BY AP 

VS AR OR ASSETS & LIABILITIES. STATE 

OF FLORIDA COMP CONTROLER 

ACCOUNT NUMBERING SYSTEM.

CREDIT CARDS & BUSINESS NO INTEREST RATE TOWN PAYS WITHIN 

30 DAYS.

SEB 4 AT $5K EACH

SAMS PAID MONTHLY IN FULL

BUSINESS CAN BE FOUND ON GL OVER 

500 PAGES EACH FISCAL YEAR

AFTERSCHOOL PROGRAM NEED START AND END DATE

SPORTS PROGRAMS NEED START AND END DATE

ACCOUNTS MENTIONED IN B NO B LISTED

INSPECT FILES C, D & E NO C, D & E LISTED

TOH031425-04 RESPONDED BY EMAIL 3/19/2025

A. COPY OF CONTRACT WITH NCSD NA

B. NET WORTH OF TOWN ON TOWN WEBSITE

 

 

128

ITEM-8



Es,<-,; v
t

MAR

TOWN OF HILLIAR

rur frsv,st

-f 
e" -crJ."a- t 6- T.'vrrrz

lrylsrF{oD troR" 6'6TI1116 -tT€v,tS --
PtrT o o €. ApD€p To Tt-l6
ftC.'e,$Dft- " ?tr THry rop< rr:s-r Srr\![-re5
Tl.l€, (ootD Yott ?t-l5hs6 C-iT-
-yz -'ir FRAffL u)rTY --z -vo ff?

/t/t*ttE
./-. )

27'7{ Ll
'i'r 

lf r *z-r'

fn*stl-l:tt

129

ITEM-8



I

{

EeEP
MAR 25

L

}U

l/ trs
n

AJ
L

LS o

.J

i) T<,. 7-o 7V+l*_uos5€€
. Zo' uLrl To ,+Sk Tfig (avt;(:,)

-/ o n4K€ ft lvt aTi o t-t_ fo 6ty€ ft
6ft; SftP€ilA To --[ F4osg_ \^] Hc. p f:r,\-

. Tb /1 . Seapzui- J_p ft>L 7U+f
Soneoug /4H/<zS ft hl|-roD Ta GryF4u 7d u/v E 4 PLr Y {tS r H47 1,j Lr/f ou 

' "
l4{4L Sr/faELt /-D 

,

ZD L/k€ Fa<
6Z r*oOtrD [<t .-uE
, Tryd tUEKz T<,^J t/
, f\4 tsETr IJC.

8'7r j6 L i"t llv(
,tcl _51,{_4'i

ruL+_q_Ii
3<A_'./ I

)Y 130

ITEM-8



  

STAFF TIME - .75 - .50 = .25 $6.60

ATTNY TIME - .75 - .50 = .25 $41.25

TOTAL PRR ESTIMATE $47.85

PAGE 1 03/25/2025

1. TALLAHASSE TRIP ON AGENDA RESPONDED BY EMAIL 3/26/2025

2. TOWH HALL PARK CONCRETE PATH RESPONDED BY EMAIL 3/26/2025

 

PAGE 2 03/25/2025

1. ITEM ON AGENDA TALLAHASSE TRIP RESPONSED BY EMAIL 3/26/2025

2. ITEM ON AGENDA TOWN HALL PARK 

CONCRETE PATH 

RESPONSED BY EMAIL 3/26/2025

HANDICAP SPACE AT NORTH OXFORD 

ST PARK

1 SPACE

 

03/25/2025 - PRR - TIMOTHY FISK
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5/1/2025 - REGULAR MEETING
Timothy Fisk - verbal public records request.

Daughter wants Joe Michaels termination letter showing just cause for termination.
PRR - No record exists.

He wants last three job performances as part of Recreation Director.
PRR - No record exists.

They both want to know why he was terminated.
PRR - No record exists.

If we cant do that he don't want nothing other than why you can't provide.
PRR - No record exists.

Alicia Head and Town Clerk's personnel file. Daughter wants to look at Alicia's disipline file because 
there is a post of a video on Ignorant People of Hilliard Facebook page that Alicia Head appears to be 
vaping in Town Hall.  
PRR - No record exists.

He wants to see their professional development courses.
Estimate to view files with NCSD present. .50 time estimate

Wants to see if any of his complaints were taken seriously and investigaged and put into Town Clerk's 
personnel file.
PRR - No record exists.
 
You cannot trust the Town Clerk in one of his PRR he asked how many ADA parking spaces there were at 
the North Oxford Park. Town Clerk responded that there was one parking space. He went back to park 
and there was none now there is a sign up. One space not marked, no alley, not solid surface, number 
of spaces is not correct not correct per FS and ADA.
Need clarrification on what public record is being requested.

1 of 2
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He made public records request and was told he could not come to Town Hall and pay for it. He was 
told by someone he cannot come in Town Hall because he is tresspassed. The person said that is not 
true and emailed him a tresspass order and it is false and has been doctored. How can he prove this 
because he went to NCSD and he got a copy and police body cam stating that if he comes back onto 
this property I would be arrested. That is how he knows that is false and he has a file stamp from the 
NCSD. I know the Town Attorney told you all that you could not tresspass me from Town Hall meetings 
but yet you did. Town violated his rights and we owe him an apology and a sincere one for illegally  
tresspassing him and we were told by Town Attorney and he knows this for a fact.  
Need clarrification on what public record is being requested.

Town Clerk made a 911 call about disorderly conduct a lady (his daughter) was trying to pay $10 in 
pennies and police cam shows where she was told that the Town does not take change that it is a Town 
Hall policy but we were to busy to print it out then they are heard saying we do not have it we follow 
OREMC and they don't take change. Then it got changed we do not have no polciy its not a Town policy 
its a department policy that we dont take change. Now we have a thing up there that says we take $3 in 
change. Now which one of those statements on the police body cam are true? None of them so, 
knowing that he cannot get truthful answers I wish to be allowd into Town Hall to see what I actual 
want. I want to see Ace Hardware all charges and transactions for the last fiscal year. I heard you guys 
went way overboard with your credit limits. I do not know if it is true but that is what he heard. I want to 
see the accouts payables to see if this Town is paying their local businesses on time. 
Need clarrification on what public record is being requested.
 
State laws says if you are going to film or record public records they are suppose be sealed where they 
are normally kept. State law goes on to state if you do not allow them to be sealed where they are 
normally kept they are suppose to be sealed at the next closest facility.
Need clarrification on what public record is being requested.

I was illegally tresspassed (John tried to stop him and he haulers this is my time let me finish I don't 
have no clock running. Kenny speaks up and says tonight agenda is to set a meeting date for his PRR 
item to be on the agenda.) OK, well what I have said is more than enough proof that shoud be 
Next agenda I am also going to need something to play a thumb drive. 

Due to security purposes the Town does not provide devices to play thumb drives from outside of the Town.

2 of 2
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HILLIARD TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 
Hilliard Town Hall / Council Chambers 

15859 West County Road 108 
Post Office Box 249 

Hilliard, FL 32046 

TOWN COUNCIL MEMBERS ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF 
John P. Beasley, Mayor Lisa Purvis, Town Clerk 
Kenny Sims, Council President Cory Hobbs, Interim Public Works Director 
Lee Pickett, Council Pro Tem Gabe Whittenburg, Parks & Rec Director 
Joe Michaels, Councilman  
Jared Wollitz, Councilman TOWN ATTORNEY 
Dallis Hunter, Councilman Christian Waugh 

MINUTES 

THURSDAY, MAY 01, 2025, 7:00 PM 

NOTICE TO PUBLIC 
Anyone wishing to address the Town Council regarding any item on this agenda is requested to complete 
an agenda item sheet in advance and give it to the Town Clerk. The sheets are located next to the printed 
agendas in the back of the Council Chambers. Speakers are respectfully requested to limit their comments 
to three (3) minutes. A speaker’s time may not be allocated to others. 

 

PLEDGE OF CIVILITY 

WE WILL BE RESPECTFUL OF ONE ANOTHER 
EVEN WHEN WE DISAGREE. 

WE WILL DIRECT ALL COMMENTS TO THE ISSUES. 
WE WILL AVOID PERSONAL ATTACKS. 

“Politeness costs so little.” – ABRAHAM LINCOLN 

CALL TO ORDER 
PRAYER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
ROLL CALL 

PRESENT 
Mayor John Beasley 
Council President Kenny Sims 
Council Pro Tem Lee Pickett 
Councilman Dallis Hunter 
Councilman Joe Michaels 

ABSENT 
Councilman Jared Wollitz 

REGULAR MEETING 

ITEM-1 Additions/Deletions to Agenda 
 
ITEM-8 Town Council to add the approval of purchasing the Nyren three parcels 
for the Hilliard Airpark.  
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Motion made by Council President Sims, Seconded by Council Pro Tem Pickett. 
Voting Yea: Council President Sims, Council Pro Tem Pickett, Councilman 
Hunter, Councilman Michaels 

ITEM-2 Town Council to consider the Park Facility Use Agreement for First Baptist 
Church of Boulogne’s community event at the Town Hall Park on Saturday, May 
3, 2025, 4:00 p.m. through 6:00 p.m. 
Gabe Whittenburg – Parks & Recreation Director 

Motion made by Council Pro Tem Pickett, Seconded by Councilman Michaels. 
Voting Yea: Council President Sims, Council Pro Tem Pickett, Councilman 
Hunter, Councilman Michaels 

ITEM-3 Town Council approval of the Airpark Land Acquisition Loan Agreement with 
Hilliard Aviation, Inc. in the amount of $52,000. 
Lisa Purvis, MMC – Town Clerk 

Motion made by Councilman Hunter, Seconded by Councilman Michaels. 
Voting Yea: Council President Sims, Council Pro Tem Pickett, Councilman 
Hunter, Councilman Michaels 

ITEM-4 Town Council approval of the FY 2025 Revenues and Expenditures Report for 
the period ending March 30, 2025.  
Lisa Purvis, MMC – Town Clerk 

Motion made by Councilman Hunter, Seconded by Council President Sims. 
Voting Yea: Council President Sims, Council Pro Tem Pickett, Councilman 
Hunter, Councilman Michaels 

ITEM-5 Town Council to set a date for Mr. Timothy Fisk’s public records request to 
appear on the agenda. 
Lisa Purvis, MMC – Town Clerk 
 
Timothy Fisk, 27146 West First Avenue, Hilliard, submitted a request to speak on 
this item at the beginning of the meeting. Mr. Fisk requests Councilman Michaels’ 
termination letter citing just cause for his termination from his time as Parks & 
Recreation Director, along with the last three performance reviews. He also 
states his daughter wants to review Public Information Officer & Event 
Coordinator Alicia Head’s disciplinary file after a video surfaced online of her 
vaping in Town Hall. Mr. Fisk further requests Town Clerk Lisa Purvis’ personnel 
file to check for any formally investigated complaints, stating he does not trust 
her. 
Mr. Fisk also raises concerns about ADA parking at North Oxford Park, noting 
that although the Town reported one space, it lacks proper markings and 
accessibility features required by law. He added that ADA requirements apply per 
lot, not total spaces. 
He then discusses being criminally trespassed from Town Hall, claiming the 
notice was altered and demanding an apology. Mr. Fisk also mentions an 
incident where someone was attempting to pay $10 in pennies, prompting a 
police call, and questioning the Town’s cash policies, which he says he could not 
find in writing. 
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Mr. Fisk requests all Hagan Ace Hardware receipts from the past fiscal year, 
alleging the Town has exceeded its credit limit. 
 
Council President Sims interjects Mr. Fisk’s comments, noting the item was to set 
a date to discuss these issues. 
 
Motion to place Mr. Fisk’s item on the May 15, 2025, agenda. 

Motion made by Council President Sims, Seconded by Council Pro Tem Pickett. 
Voting Yea: Council President Sims, Council Pro Tem Pickett, Councilman 
Hunter, Councilman Michaels 

ITEM-6 Town Council approval of the Minutes for the April 10, 2025, Workshop, and the 
April 17, 2025, Public Hearing & Regular Meeting.  
Lisa Purvis, MMC – Town Clerk 

Motion made by Councilman Hunter, Seconded by Council Pro Tem Pickett. 
Voting Yea: Council President Sims, Council Pro Tem Pickett, Councilman 
Hunter, Councilman Michaels 

ITEM-7 Town Council approval of Burdens Overhead Doors Inc., Payable through April 
23, 2025, Project Name: Fire Department Overhead Doors in the amount of 
$19,565.00. 
CAPITAL FUNDED PROJECT LUMP SUM CONTRACT $19,565 

Motion made by Councilman Hunter, Seconded by Council Pro Tem Pickett. 
Voting Yea: Council President Sims, Council Pro Tem Pickett, Councilman 
Hunter, Councilman Michaels 

ADDED ITEMS 
 
ITEM-8 Town Council approval of the Hilliard Airpark FDOT PTGA Land Acquisition 
   along Eastwood Road, for the purchase of three parcels from Mr. Gerald Nyren     
   in the amount of $114,000.  
  Lisa Purvis, MMC – Town Clerk 
 
  Motion made by Council Pro Tem Pickett, Seconded by Councilman Michaels.  
  Voting Yea: Council President Sims, Council Pro Tem Pickett, Councilman 
   Hunter, Councilman Michaels 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS 

PUBLIC 
 
Timothy Fisk, 27146 West First Avenue, Hilliard, requests that someone be authorized 
to inspect the skate park to determine what repairs are needed. He mentions knowing 
people willing to help fix it but notes that state and federal laws currently prevent them from 
doing so. Mr. Fisk also stated that golf cart signs that the Town installed are not sufficient at 
the Town limits to inform visitors that it’s a golf cart community as he believes that the 
current placement risks liability to the Town. Mr. Fisk further explains how the Town should 
make the signs and that he is willing to cover the cost of one of the signs. 
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MAYOR & TOWN COUNCIL 
 
Mayor Beasley, states that Food Truck Friday was packed, and that every vendor ran out 
of food, the music was great, and the weather was perfect.  
He continues stating that the Vietnam Traveling Wall came to Nassau County. He thanks 
all sponsors and volunteers. 
He also wishes all mothers a Happy Mother’s Day.  

ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF 
 
PRESENT: 
Town Clerk Lisa Purvis 
 
ABSENT: 
Interim Public Works Director Cory Hobbs 
Parks & Recreation Director Gabe Whittenburg 

Council Pro Tem Pickett, speaks on behalf of Mr. Hobbs, noting that two trees are being 
removed at the north end of Oxford near the ballpark, and that Oxford will be closed at 
West Seventh Avenue for a manhole repair. 
Mayor Beasley, encourages everyone to attend the youth soccer games and announces 
that adult basketball will begin on Saturday, May 3, 2025, at the Town Gym. 
Town Clerk Lisa Purvis, states that the Nassau County 2050 Vision Plan is scheduled to 
appear on the May 15, 2025, Public Hearing & Regular Meeting agenda. Prior to that 
meeting, at 6:00 p.m., the Nassau County Planning Department will be set up in the Town 
Council chambers to gather public input. Public invitations were included in the May 2025 
water and sewer bills. Land Use Administrator Lee Anne Wollitz and Public Information 
Officer & Event Coordinator Alicia Head are preparing an announcement for the Town’s 
social media and website. 

TOWN ATTORNEY 
 
No comments.  

ADJOURNMENT 
 
Motion to adjourn at 7:24 p.m. 

Motion made by Council President Sims, Seconded by Councilman Michaels. 
Voting Yea: Council President Sims, Council Pro Tem Pickett, Councilman Hunter, Councilman 
Michaels 

Approved this ______ day of _______________, ______ by the Hilliard Town Council, 
Hilliard, Florida. 
  

 

 

_________________________________ 

Kenneth A. Sims, Sr. 

Council President 
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ATTEST: 

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Lisa Purvis 

Town Clerk 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

John P. Beasley 

Mayor 
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HILLIARD TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 
Hilliard Town Hall / Council Chambers 

15859 West County Road 108 
Post Office Box 249 

Hilliard, FL 32046 

TOWN COUNCIL MEMBERS ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF 
John P. Beasley, Mayor Lisa Purvis, Town Clerk 
Kenny Sims, Council President Cory Hobbs, Interim Public Works Director 
Lee Pickett, Council Pro Tem Gabe Whittenburg, Parks & Rec Director 
Joe Michaels, Councilman  
Jared Wollitz, Councilman TOWN ATTORNEY 
Dallis Hunter, Councilman 

 

Christian Waugh 

 

HILLIARD PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD MEETING 
 
BOARD MEMBERS 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF 

Wendy Prather, Chair Lee Anne Wollitz 
Harold “Skip” Frey, Vice Chair Land Use Administrator 
Charles A. Reed, Board Member  
Josetta Lawson, Board Member PLANNING AND ZONING ATTORNEY 
Kevin Webb, Board Member Avery Dyen 

 

MINUTES 

THURSDAY, MAY 08, 2025, 6:00 PM 

CALL TO ORDER 
PRAYER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
ROLL CALL 

PRESENT 
Mayor John Beasley 
Council President Kenny Sims 
Council Pro Tem Lee Pickett 
Councilman Jared Wollitz 
Councilman Dallis Hunter 
Councilman Joe Michaels 
Planning & Zoning Board Chair, Wendy Prather 
Planning & Zoning Board Vice Chair, Harold “Skip” Frey 
Planning & Zoning Board Member, Charles A. Reed 
Planning & Zoning Board Member, Josetta Lawson 
Town Clerk Lisa Purvis 
Land Use Administrator Lee Anne Wollitz 

ABSENT 
Planning & Zoning Board Member, Kevin Webb 
Interim Public Works Director, Cory Hobbs 
Parks & Recreation Director, Gabe Whittenburg 
Town Attorney, Christian Waugh 
Planning & Zoning Board Attorney, Avery Den 
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WORKSHOP 

ITEM-1 Town Council review of the Preliminary & Tentative Annual Financial Statements, 
for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2024. 
Brad Hough, CPA – Powell & Jones, CPA’s 
 
Brad Hough, CPA, of Powell & Jones, CPA’s, reviews and explains the 
Preliminary and Tentative Annual Financial Statements for the fiscal year ending 
September 30, 2024. The following sections were covered: 
 
Page 7: Independent Auditor’s Report – The only noted issue is related to the 
Town not having a CPA on staff to produce the annual Financial Statement which 
is common with a Town of our size. 
Pages 10–23: Management Discussion and Analysis – The Town Clerk 
prepares this document and it gives a more summarized version of the Town’s 
financial records. 
Page 24: Basic Financial Statements 
Page 26: Statement of Net Position – The audit reflects an unrestricted net 
position of ($507,099). 
Page 28: Governmental Funds Balance Sheet – Shows an unassigned 
balance of $527,580; Towns should aim for two to three months of expenses but 
we have three to four months available. 
Page 29: Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balances – Shows revenues exceeding expenses by over $70,000. 
Page 32: Proprietary Fund Statement of Net Position – Indicates an 
unrestricted net position of approximately $1.4 million, which includes the ARFA 
funds. 
Page 33: Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position – 
Reports a total operating loss of ($452,925) but an overall net position change of 
$626,955. 
Page 34: Statement of Cash Flows – Reflects a decrease in cash. 
Page 52: Capital Assets & Grants – All are in compliance. 
Page 56: Long-Term Liabilities – Includes a $590,000 bond, which is 
scheduled to be paid off in the current fiscal year. 
Page 81: Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and State Financial 
Assistance – Shows $846,000 in federal awards and $826,526 in state financial 
assistance, totaling $1,672,526. Federal or State over $750,000 requires a Single 
Audit therefore both were done this year. 
Page 83: Independent Accountant’s Report – No grant findings; only 
preparation of financial statements noted. 
Page 85: Compliance Report – Indicates no single audit findings. 
Page 88: Audit Opinion – discussed. 
Page 95: Management Letter – discussed.  
Page 96: Auditor General Compliance Matters – discussed under the 
Management Letter and Lisa & Calen are thanked for all their assistance in 
preparing of the annual audit. 
Page 98: Independent Accountant’s Report – Reports no issues of non-
compliance. 

ITEM-2 Town Council and Planning & Zoning Board to review & discuss the Minor 
Modification Application for the Greenbrier PUD, Ordinance No. 2021-09, and 
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give feedback to the applicant and the Land Use Administrator. 
Lee Anne Wollitz – Land Use Administrator 
 
Land Use Administrator Lee Anne Wollitz explains the three minor PUD (Planned 
Unit Development) modifications being requested: 
- Implementation of phasing. 
- Time extensions. 
- Increased lot coverage.  
Courtney Gaver, attorney for Greenbrier from Rogers Towers, presents 
information to the Town Council and the Planning & Zoning Board and introduces 
the owner representative for Greenbrier, the engineer and two members from the 
potential buyers representing Maronda Homes. Discussion focuses on lot 
coverage being a scribers error. That 35% coverage should have been 60% lot 
coverage like the prior approved subdivisions. The plating and phasing, noting 
that Phase 1 will include the installation of the sewer force main. 
Lee Anne Wollitz comments that the requests made by Greenbrier are 
reasonable and, if she had the authority, she would approve them. 

ITEM-3 Town Council to review & discuss the feedback gathered from communities that 
have participated in the NEFRC Community Visioning Initiative.  
Lee Anne Wollitz – Land Use Administrator 
 
The Town Council requests that the Land Use Administrator notify Nassau 
County of the Council’s desire to see the area developed as a safe, walkable 
community. 
Additionally, with the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) projected to 
take about five years on related work, the Council emphasizes its vision of 
creating a walkable connection from the center of Town to the Winn-Dixie. 

ITEM-4 Town Council to review and discuss the proposals received for the Classification 
& Compensation study. 
Lisa Purvis, MMC – Town Clerk 
 
Town Council requests the Town Clerk to direct Mrs. Burnette, Financial 
Administrative Assistant, to contact Nassau County and the Nassau County 
School Board to request their job descriptions and pay scales that would be most 
consistent with the Town’s. 

ITEM-5 Town Council to review and discuss the Water & Wastewater Systems Impact 
Fee Analysis, prepared by Mittauer & Associates, Inc.  
Lisa Purvis, MMC – Town Clerk 
 
Town Council requests the Town Clerk to reach out to other municipalities to 
gather information on their water and wastewater systems impact fees and any 
other impact fees they may have in place for new construction. 

ITEM-6 Town Council to review and discuss the budgeted capital item Town Hall AC 
units and provide guidance on moving forward. 
Lisa Purvis, MMC – Town Clerk 
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Town Council requests the Town Clerk to get proposals for one AC unit for Town 
Hall. 

ITEM-7 Town Council to review and discuss the agreement for the Railside Live 
YouTube live-stream produced video of trains in relation to security and recurring 
costs.  
Guy Riner – Town IT Director 
 
Town IT Director Guy Riner raises concerns about three specific items in the 
current agreement, particularly highlighting issues related to security, bandwidth 
access, and the associated costs. He notes that he would feel more comfortable 
with the agreement if the individual involved were to cover those costs. 
Councilman Hunter will contact the individual regarding this matter. 
 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS 

Mayor Beasley revisits the discussion on the cost of updating the sound system 
in the Town Hall chambers with IT Director Guy Riner. Riner states that he will 
revisit and report back.  

Mayor Beasley asks about the installation of Mayor Floyd’s picture in the 
chambers. Councilman Hunter agrees to bring the picture for the Clerk to have 
hung in the Council Chambers alongside the other past Mayors. 
 
Mayor Beasley states that he spoke with the Town Attorney, and he raised the 
possibility that a deputy may need to be present at the next regular Town Council 
meeting. The Council disagree and state that they will conduct themselves as 
they should in quorum. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Motion to adjourn at 7:35 p.m. 

Motion made by Council President Sims, Seconded by Councilman Wollitz. 
Voting Yea: Council President Sims, Council Pro Tem Pickett, Councilman Wollitz, Councilman 
Hunter, Councilman Michaels 

Approved this ______ day of _______________, ______ by the Hilliard Town Council, 
Hilliard, Florida. 
  

 

 

_________________________________ 

Kenneth A. Sims, Sr. 

Council President 
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ATTEST: 

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Lisa Purvis 

Town Clerk 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

John P. Beasley 

Mayor 
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IMPORTANT REMITTANCE INFORMATION
Please include the AECOM invoice number when sending payment

INVOICE NUMBER: 2001015230
Invoice Date: 06-MAY-25

Invoice Due Date: 05-JUN-25
Amount Due: $8,250.00 USD

Project Number: 60732153

To process your payment timely and ensure credit is given, please include the AECOM invoice number 
when sending payment.  Including this invoice number will allow AECOM to promptly apply your 
payment without delay or additional information requests placed upon your organization.

Failure to reference the AECOM invoice number when sending payment may result in delay of your 
account being credited.

To expedite payment processing, AECOM is asking its clients to submit payments electronically by
ACH (Automated Clearing House) if possible.

ACH payments provide an alternative to paper checks, affording you the following advantages:

• Certainty of delivery
• Reduced operating costs through the elimination of paper check mailing

Regards,

AECOM Cash Application Department
CashAppsRemittance@aecom.com
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Check Payment to:
AECOM Technical Services, Inc.
An AECOM Company
1178 Paysphere Circle
Chicago, IL 60674

ACH Payment to:
AECOM Technical Services, Inc.
An AECOM Company
Bank of America
Account Number 5800937020 
ABA Number 071000039

Wire Transfer Payment to:
AECOM Technical Services, Inc.
An AECOM Company
Bank of America
New York, NY 10001
Account Number 5800937020
ABA Number 026009593
SWIFT CODE BOFAUS3N

 
h

h
7650 West Courtney Campbell Causeway, Tampa, FL 33607-1462

h

Tel: 813-286-1711
h

Fax:813-287-8591
Federal Tax ID No. 95-2661922 h
H
h ATTN : Lisa Purvis Invoice Date:h06-MAY-25
h    MMC Town Clerk TOWN OF HILLIARD Invoice Number:h2001015230
h h15859 West County Road 108

h
h

hHilliard, FL 32046
hUnited States

Hh
hAgreement Number:h60732153

HAgreement Description:h
h

h H h h Payment Term:H30 DAYS
h

h h hh
H Please reference Invoice Number and Project Number with Remittance

Project Number : 60732153 Project Name : 01J_Hilliard Airpark_Cultural Resources Support Services of Pea
Farm Rd Relocation - SA 21

Bill Through Date : 05-APR-25 - 02-MAY-25 
hBil Prange
h
h

hH
H
H Phase Lump Sum
Project 
Number Description Fee

Percent
Complete Earned Previous Current

60732153     Hilliard Airpark Cultural Resources Support ServicesH 55,000.00 85.00% 46,750.00 38,500.00 8,250.00

_____________
H Total Phase Lump Sum: 8,250.00
h 
Project Total : 01J_Hilliard Airpark_Cultural Resources Support Services of Pea Farm Rd Relocation - SA 21 8,250.00
H 

H
H Invoice Summaries
Total Current Amount : 8,250.00
Retention Amount : 0.00
Pre-Tax Amount : 8,250.00
Tax Amount : 0.00

_____________
Total Invoice Amount : 8,250.00
h 

H
H Billing Summaries
Billing Summary Current Prior Total Total Fee Percent Complete
Billings 8,250.00 38,500.00 46,750.00 H55,000.00 H85.00
Tax 0.00 0.00 0.00 H H
H _____________ _____________ _____________H H
Billing Total : 8,250.00 38,500.00 46,750.00H
h 
h
h
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INVOICE FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

PROJECT: Town of Hilliard Hurricane Shelter DATE: 05/05/25
Hilliard, FL

INVOICE NO. 24022-5

TO: Lisa Purvis 
Town of Hilliard PROJECT NO. 24022
PO Box 249
Hilliard, FL  32046

lpurvis@townofhilliard.com
payables@townofhilliard.com

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE AGREEMENT DATED 11/7/24
THERE IS DUE AT THIS TIME FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND REIMBURSABLE ITEMS ON THE ABOVE PROJECT, FOR THE PERIOD ENDING 05/05/25

THE SUM OF

DOLLARS   $ $60,000.00
THE ABOVE AMOUNT SHALL BECOME DUE AND PAYABLE 30 DAYS FROM THE DATE HEREOF.

INTEREST ON OVERDUE ACCOUNTS SHALL ACCRUE AT 1.5% PERCENT PER Month

THE PRESENT STATUS OF THE ACCOUNT IS AS FOLLOWS:

Fee $572,000.00
Reimbursables $0.00
Total Fee $572,000.00

Fee Earned $112,000.00
Invoiced to Date $52,000.00

Total Amount Due this Invoice $60,000.00

Invoice Reviewed and Approved by:
Aldo Minozzi, AIA, Vice President

4141 Southpoint Dr. E. #200
Jacksonville, Florida  32216
9  0  4      -      2 2 4  -  0 0 0 1
F A  X      -      2 2 4  -  0 0 2 3
www.pqh.com
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INVOICE FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

Project: Town of Hilliard Hurricane Shelter
Hilliard, FL

To: Invoice Date: 05/05/25
Town of Hilliard
PO Box 249 Invoice Number: 24022-5
Hilliard, FL  32046 Project Number: 24022

TOTAL AMOUNT DUE
THIS INVOICE: $60,000.00

TOTAL % TOTAL DUE PREVIOUSLY AMOUNT 
SERVICE RENDERED FEE COMPLETE TO DATE INVOICED DUE

Site Assess & Prelim Design 22,000.00 100% 22,000.00 22,000.00 0.00

Schematic Design 30,000.00 100% 30,000.00 30,000.00 0.00

Design Development 30% 60,000.00 100% 60,000.00 0.00 60,000.00

Const. Documents 60% 76,000.00 0% 0.00 0.00 0.00

Const. Documents 90% 76,000.00 0% 0.00 0.00 0.00

Const. Documents 100% 40,000.00 0% 0.00 0.00 0.00

Bidding/Permitting 16,000.00 0% 0.00 0.00 0.00

Construction Observation 48,000.00 0% 0.00 0.00 0.00

Project Punch & Closeout 8,000.00 0% 0.00 0.00 0.00

Interior Design; Finish Selection 15,000.00 0% 0.00 0.00 0.00

Topo/Boundary Survey 8,000.00 0% 0.00 0.00 0.00

Geotechnical Engineering Rpt 8,000.00 0% 0.00 0.00 0.00

Civil Engineering 75,000.00 0% 0.00 0.00 0.00

Landscaping 15,000.00 0% 0.00 0.00 0.00

Design Contingency Allowance 75,000.00 0% 0.00 0.00 0.00

Previous Reimbursables 0.00 0% 0.00 0.00 0.00

Reimbursables this invoice 0.00 0% 0.00 0.00 0.00
x 1.15

TOTAL $572,000.00 20% $112,000.00 $52,000.00 $60,000.00
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